
PERSONNEL AND GENERAL 
PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

AGENDA

Date: Monday, 4th November, 2019

Time: 7.00 pm

Venue: Guildhall



2

PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE 

Information for Members of the Public

Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 
Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 
to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face 
the Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled 
parking space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground 
floor, which can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility 
and you wish to attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance 
and we will make any necessary arrangements to assist your visit.

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 
Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 
preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part 
II of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that 
the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to 
public inspection.

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report 
on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 
providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 
proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 
attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 
attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded 
and for any footage to be broadcast or published.  

Please note the Council audio records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are 
published on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted 
in the meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council 
he/she will be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to 
the Council’s website. The Chairman of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend 
recording, if in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if 
they consider that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any 
statutory provision.

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 
for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last 
working day before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned 
below.

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 
papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 
film, video or sound recording, please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 
Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct line); E-
Mail Address:  committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk.

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 
minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information.

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 
electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 
worcester.gov.uk

mailto:committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk


3

Personnel and General Purposes Sub-Committee
Monday, 4 November 2019

Members of the Sub-Committee:-

Chairman: Councillor Louis Stephen (G)
Vice-Chairman: Councillor Marc Bayliss (C) and Councillor Adrian Gregson (L)

Councillor Roger Berry (LCo)
Councillor Mrs. Lucy Hodgson (C)

Councillor Chris Mitchell (C)
Councillor Joy Squires (L)

C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-Operative

AGENDA

Part 1
(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC)

1. Appointment of Substitutes To receive details of any Members 
appointed to attend the meeting instead of 
a Member of the Sub-Committee.

2. Declarations of Interest To receive any declarations of interest.

3. Public Participation Up to a total of fifteen minutes can be 
allowed, each speaker being allocated a 
maximum of five minutes, for members of 
the public to present a petition, ask a 
question or comment on any matter on the 
Agenda or within the remit of the Sub-
Committee.

4. Minutes 
Page(s): 1 - 4

Of the meeting held on 17th July 2019 to be 
approved and signed.

5. Review of Polling Districts, 
Polling Places and Polling 
Stations 2019 
Page(s): 5 - 68
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Claire Chaplin, 

Democratic and 
Civic Services 
Manager
Tel: 01905 
722005

1. To consider and approve the proposed 
polling places as set out in Appendix 1 
and Section 5.1 of this report;

2. To note the proposed polling districts 
and refer the proposals to Council for 
consideration and approval as set out in 
Appendix 1 and Section 5.1 of this 
report; and

3. Subject to approval by Council, to 
authorise the Returning Officer and 
Deputy Returning Officer to take all 
necessary steps to implement these 
recommendations. 



4

6. Recruitment Policy & Procedure 
Page(s): 69 - 90
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Hilary Price, 

Human Resources 
Officer
Tel: 01905 
722055

To approve the proposed amendments to 
the Recruitment Policy & Procedure.

7. Grievance Policy and Procedure 
Page(s): 91 - 104
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Catherine Simcox, 

Human Resources 
Officer
Tel: 01905 
722043

To approve the proposed amendments to 
the Grievance Policy and Procedure.

8. Dignity at Work (Bullying, 
Harassment And Victimisation) 
Policy 
Page(s): 105 - 114
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Catherine Simcox, 

Human Resources 
Officer
Tel: 01905 
722043

To approve the proposed amendments to 
the Dignity at Work (Bullying, Harassment 
and Victimisation) Policy.

9. Amendment to the Sickness 
Absence Management Policy & 
Procedure 
Page(s): 115 - 130
Ward(s): All Wards
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards, 

Head of People 
Services
Tel: 01905 
722042

To approve the proposed amendments to 
the Sickness Absence Policy & Procedure.

10. Any Other Business Which in the opinion of the Chairman is of 
sufficient urgency as to warrant 
consideration.



PERSONNEL AND GENERAL PURPOSES SUB-COMMITTEE

17th July 2019

Present: Councillor Louis Stephen in the Chair

Councillors A. Amos, Barnes, Gregson 
(Vice-Chairman), Mrs L. Hodgson, Mitchell 
and J. Squires

Officers: David Blake, Managing Director
Mark Edwards, Head of People Services

1 Appointment of Substitutes 

Councillor Alan Amos for Councillor Bayliss, Councillor Barnes for Councillor Berry.

2 Declarations of Interest 

None.

3 Public Participation 

None.

4 Minutes 

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 27th February 2019 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

5 Employee Benefits Platform 

The Sub-Committee considered a proposal to purchase a web-based Employee 
Benefits Platform from Sodexo The Head of People Services explained the 
proposal and answered questions from Sub-Committee members.

In summary, Sodexo was recommended by Bromsgrove and Redditch Council, 
who had undertaken a comprehensive review of this market and opted for Sodexo 
via the ESPO Framework 319_19 agreement. Sodexo can offer a Free Employee 
Discounts Scheme, Childcare Scheme and Cycle to Work Scheme, as well as a free 
of charge and comprehensive Employee Assistance Programme with unlimited 
manager referrals and up to 6 sessions of Face-to-face Counselling per presenting 
issue for all employees.

A direct contract with Sodexo would require a two year contractual commitment of 
£7,086.60, with a one off set up fee of £450.00.  This would be offset by a saving 
of at least £4,000, on transfer of our EAP and Counselling provision to Sodexo.

In the ensuing discussion, Sub-Committee members expressed support for the 
proposal. Reference was made to future add-ons, and the potential for the 
contract cost to rise as a consequence. Officers advised that the operation of the 
scheme will be monitored and reviewed if necessary.

It was noted that the changes had been supported by the Joint Consultative and 
Safety Committee.

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



17th July 2019 2

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approves of the purchase of a Web-
Based Employee Benefits Platform from SODEXO, including the transfer of 
certain existing benefits to SODEXO (namely our Employee Assistance 
Programme, Counselling, Cycle to Work Scheme and Child Care Voucher 
Scheme).

6 Employer Supported Volunteering Policy 

The Sub-Committee considered a proposal to adopt a volunteering scheme for 
employees. The Head of People Services presented the report and explained the 
proposal. In summary, this would involve a simple request, approval and 
confirmation process that enables staff to take up to 2 days additional leave per 
financial year for volunteering activities. 

It was noted that the changes had been supported by the Joint Consultative and 
Safety Committee.

Sub-Committee Members expressed support for the proposal, which would have 
benefits for both employees and the local community, and supported both the 
Council’s People Strategy and City Plan themes.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee agrees to the introduction of an 
‘Employer Supported Volunteering (ESV) Policy.’

7 Review of Local Conditions 

The Head of People Services reported that there had been some minor changes 
since the local conditions were last approved by the Sub-Committee in December 
2018, including:

1. Amending the review period for paying 100% for Industrial Accidents from 
2018 to at some point in the future.

2. Amending the call out rate which has not been updated since 2013 to link 
into the NJC National pay spine that can be updated annually.

3. Updating the revised spinal column point level on the new pay spine for 
those eligible for overtime.

The Sub-Committee noted that the changes had been supported by the Joint 
Consultative and Safety Committee.

With reference to paragraph 1.19, it was highlighted that time off for Service in 
Non-Regular Forces and for Trade Union Activities, etc. are separate issues. It was 
suggested that it may be possible to arrange a presentation for employees who 
might wish to consider joining the Reserve Forces.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee approve the proposed amendments 
to the Local Conditions.

Page 2



17th July 2019 3

8 Health and Attendance Performance - 2018/19 

The Head of People Services presented a report for the year to 31 March 2019. In 
summary, over the last two years sickness performance had progressively 
improved from a low point of 12.63 days per full time equivalent employee (FTE) 
in 2016/17, to 11.4 days per FTE in 2017/18 and 9.9 days per FTE in 2018/19.  
This represents a 21% improvement over two years. The voluntary leavers rate in 
1018/19 was 8.8%. This represents a 46% improvement over the last two years.   

Data compiled for the West Midlands Councils in 2018/19 was now available and 
this showed that the Council performance was average for the region. 

Officers responded to questions from Sub-Committee members on the report.

RESOLVED: That the Sub-Committee:

1. note the health and attendance performance for the year 2018/19 and 
actions being taken to reduce sickness absence; and

2. note the voluntary leavers rate for the year 2018/19.

9 Any Other Business 

None.

Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m. – 7.35p.m.

Chairman at the meeting on
25th September 2019

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 4th November 2019

Report of: The (Acting) Returning Officer 

Subject: REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS, POLLING PLACES AND POLLING 
STATIONS 2019

1. Recommendation

1.1 To consider and approve the proposed polling places as set out in Appendix 
1 and Section 5.1 of this report;

1.2 To note the proposed polling districts and refer the proposals to Council 
for consideration and approval as set out in Appendix 1 and Section 5.1 of 
this report; and

1.3 Subject to approval by Council, to authorise the Returning Officer and 
Deputy Returning Officer to take all necessary steps to implement these 
recommendations. 

2. Background

2.1 This report details the findings of the Review of the Polling Districts, Polling Places 
and Polling Stations in the Parliamentary Constituency of Worcester which has been 
carried out in accordance with the Representation of the People Act 1983. 

2.2 Local authorities have a statutory responsibility for reviewing UK Parliamentary 
polling districts, polling places and polling stations every five years. The previous 
review was carried out in 2014 and in accordance with the Representation of the 
People Act 1983 this review must be completed by 31 January 2020. 

2.3 For this occasion, it was considered beneficial to commence the review sometime 
after the European Parliamentary Election and City Council Elections in May 2019. 
The reason for this timescale was that detailed inspections were carried out of 
existing polling stations and polling places by electoral officers employed to deliver 
both elections. Feedback regarding election arrangements was also gained from 
those persons responsible for inspecting the polling arrangements for both 
elections and from electors entitled to vote at their respective polling station.  

2.4 The timing of the review was also considered by the Regional Electoral 
Administrators Group in the West Mercia Area, of which the City Council is a 
member. The consensus decision being that represented authorities would 
commence their respective reviews around the 1st August 2019 in order to benefit 
from a coordinated approach to training and support from the Electoral Commission 
and Cabinet Office and to share best practice in carrying out the review.

  
2.5 As part of on-going monitoring and reviewing of polling districts, polling places and 

polling stations carried out by the City Council, any feedback and concerns received 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



from stakeholders during previous elections has been considered and, where 
appropriate, factored into existing and proposed future arrangements as set out 
in Appendix 1.

2.6 It is proposed to implement the changes to polling arrangement as identified in this 
report in time for the May 2020 Local Election.  However the proposed changes 
relating to the use of the Alma Tavern in polling district M2 and the Riverside 
Building, University of Worcester, Severn Campus in polling districts JCA/JCB as 
polling stations can be implemented with immediate effect as both venues are 
available.

3. Overview of the Legislative Requirements of the Review 

3.1 Local authorities must comply with the following legislative requirements regarding 
the designation of polling districts, polling places and polling stations:

(a) Each parish in England is to be a separate polling district, unless special 
circumstances apply.

(b) The council must designate a polling place for each polling district, unless the 
size or other circumstances of a polling district are such that the situation of 
the polling stations does not materially affect the convenience of the electors.

(c) The polling place must be an area in the district, unless special circumstances 
make it desirable to designate an area wholly or partly outside the district (for 
example, if no accessible polling place can be identified in the district).

(d) The polling place must be small enough to indicate to electors in different 
parts of the polling district how they will be able to reach the polling station.

3.2 Local authorities must also comply with the following access requirements. As part of 
the review, they must:

(a) Seek to ensure that all electors in a constituency in the local authority area 
have such reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the 
circumstances.

(b) Seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and practicable every polling place 
for which it is responsible is accessible to electors who are disabled.

4. The Review Process 

4.1 Guidance issued by the Electoral Commission stipulates that reviews should be 
conducted in the following four stages:

Stage 1 – Notification of the Review 
This stage requires the Council to give public notice of its intention to conduct the 
review. The notice was published on the Council’s website on 1st August 2019, and 
also advertised by the local media and on the Council’s social media sites.

Stage 2 – Consultation
The consultation stage is for representations and comments to be made on the 
existing and proposed arrangements for polling districts, polling places and polling 
stations.  There are two aspects of this stage:

Page 6



 A compulsory submission from the (Acting) Returning Officer of the UK 
Parliamentary constituency, which must be published by the local authority. 
The submission must comment on both the existing polling arrangements and 
any proposed polling places and polling stations identified as part of the 
review. The submissions made by the (Acting) Returning Officer were 
published on 12th September 2019 with a further five proposed changes to 
polling arrangements being published on 10th October 2019.  

 Submissions from electors and other interested persons and bodies, including 
elected representatives and those with expertise in relation to access to 
premises or facilities for disabled people. Fifteen organisations across 
Worcestershire who provide support and services to disabled persons were 
contacted separately and asked for their comments and feedback. 

At the close of the consultation stage on Wednesday 16th October, 554 responses 
had been received.  

Stage 3 – Concluding the Review 
After considering all of the representations, the local authority must decide on the 
most appropriate polling districts, polling places and polling stations, which must be 
approved by the Council. Personnel and General Purposes Sub Committee has 
responsibility for approving polling places and Council has responsibility for 
approving the division of wards into polling districts.   

Stage 4 – Publishing the Conclusions of the Review 
On completion of the review, the Council must give reasons for its decisions and 
publish:

(a) All correspondence sent to an (Acting) Returning Officer in connection with the 
review.

(b) All correspondence sent to any person whom the authority thinks has 
particular expertise in relation to access to premises or facilities for persons 
who have different forms of disability.

(c) All representations made by any person in connection with the review.
(d) The minutes of any meeting held by the Council to consider any revision to 

the designation of polling districts or polling places within its area as a result 
of the review.

(e) Details of the designation of polling districts and polling places within the local 
authority area as a result of the review.

(f) Details of the places where the results of the review have been published.  

5. Preferred Option 

5.1 The Electoral Commission provides a checklist of criteria for use in evaluating the 
suitability of buildings as polling places and polling stations which have been 
completed as part of the review process. The checklist provided by the Electoral 
Commission is set out at Appendix 2. In addition to the checklist for evaluating 
suitability all comments, suggestions and requests received as part of the 
consultation process from the (Acting) Returning Officer and other interested 
persons and bodies have been considered and the proposed polling districts, polling 
places and polling stations are set out in detail at Appendix 1. 

Page 7



5.2 In summary, ten proposals for a change to polling places or polling districts are 
recommended. These are identified below together with the rationale for the 
proposal.

No Ward Polling 
District

Proposed Change Rationale 

1. Battenhall B2
B3

That Cherry Orchard Primary 
School, Timberdine Close is 
designated as the permanent 
polling place for polling 
districts B2 and B3. 

The current polling place is 
St Marks Church which is 
located in Cathedral Ward in 
polling district D1. The 
proposed polling place and 
polling station are located 
approximately in the middle 
of B2 and B3 combined.  

2. Cathedral D1 That St Marks Church, 
Orchard Street is designated 
as the permanent polling 
place for polling district D1. 

The current polling place is 
the Car Park Adjoining Play 
Area, Waverley Street.
Portakabins are only used 
when no other suitable 
alternative venue is 
available and there is a 
suitable location within the 
polling district to 
accommodate a portakabin. 
It is proposed that the 
polling place/station for 
polling districts B2 and B3, 
which is currently St Marks 
Church, be changed to 
Cherry Orchard Primary 
School, thus making St 
Marks Church available for 
the electorate of polling 
district D1. 

3. Claines E1 That Worcester Lawn Tennis 
Club, Northwick Close is 
designated as the permanent 
polling place for polling 
district E1. 

This would be more 
accessible and/or closer for 
electors in polling district E1 
as the existing polling place, 
Claines Royal British Legion, 
Cornmeadow Lane is located 
within polling district E4.     

4. Claines E3 That Gheluvelt Sons of Rest 
Building, Lavender Road be 
designated as the permanent 
polling place for polling 
district E3.

The existing polling place, 
Ombersley Road Methodist 
Church, presents access 
issues due to the gradient of 
the car park and permanent 
ramp structure leading from 
the pavement to the polling 
place in its entirety. The 
proposal, Gheluvelt Sons of 
Rest Building, Lavender 
Road, provides level 
disabled access into the 
polling station and is readily 

Page 8



available for election 
purposes and is located in 
the polling district. 

5. Nunnery G5
G6

To merge polling districts G5 
and G6 and rename the 
merged polling district G5.

The current polling 
place/station for polling 
district G5 is Nunnery Wood 
Sports Complex which is 
located in polling district G6 
and is a suitable and 
available venue. 

6. St. 
Clement

J3A
J3B

That the Riverside Building, 
University of Worcester, 
Severn Campus, Hylton 
Road, is designated as the 
permanent polling place for 
polling district J3A/J3B.

The Y.M.C.A building has 
recently been sold and its 
future intended use is 
unknown. The Riverside 
Building is a suitable and 
available venue.      

7. St. John K1
K3

To merge polling districts K1 
and K3 and rename the 
merged polling district K1.

The current polling place for 
polling district K3, The 
Green Centre, Gresham 
Road is located in polling 
district K1. The Green 
Centre is a suitable and 
available venue. 

8. St. 
Stephen 

M1
M3

To change the polling district 
boundary to take out the 
following from polling district 
M1, and include them within 
the polling district M3:

Gregorys Bank
Brickwharf Drive
Gregorys Court
Kiln Crescent
Tile Court, on Kiln Crescent
Brick Court, on Kiln Crescent
Merriman’s Hill (Part)

Polling district M3 is 
relatively small in 
comparison to polling 
districts M1 and M2. The 
identified electorate are 
closer to the existing polling 
place/station, St George’s C 
of E Primary School,
St George’s Lane which
is located within M3.   

9. St. 
Stephen 

M2 That the Alma Tavern, 74 
Droitwich Road be designated 
as the permanent polling 
place for polling district M2. 

The recent renovation of the 
Alma Tavern has provided a 
suitable and available venue 
as a polling place/station for 
polling district M2 which will 
eliminate the need to use 
Perdiswell Primary School as 
the polling place. 

10. Warndon N2
N3 

To merge polling districts N2 
and N3 and rename the 
merged polling district N2.

The current polling 
place/station for polling 
district N2, St. Wulstan’s 
Church Hall, Cranham Drive 
is located in polling district 
N3 and is a suitable and 
available venue. 

Page 9



6. Alternative Options Considered

6.1 Where available, other venues were assessed for there suitability in accordance with 
the legislative framework and the check-list provided by the Electoral Commission. 
Those venues assessed were determined as not suitable as they did not meet the 
necessary criteria to the equivalent level as the recommended proposals. 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
The recommended changes result in a reduction of one portakabin needing to be 
hired in Cathedral Ward and a slight reduction in staffing levels due to the merging 
of polling stations in Nunnery and St. John Wards, achieving a cost saving of 
approximately £1,500.

7.2 Legal and Governance Implications
The Council has a statutory responsibility for reviewing UK Parliamentary polling 
districts, polling places and polling stations as specified in Schedule A1 to the 
Representation of the People Act 1983. The Electoral Registration and Administration 
Act 2013 states that the review must be completed by 31st January 2020.  

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution it is the responsibility of the Personnel 
and General Purposes Sub-Committee to approve changes to polling places and the 
responsibility of Full Council to approve changes to polling districts. 

7.3 Risk Implications
The existing risk management plans for polling arrangements that are currently in 
place are considered to be sufficient and are required and updated on a regular 
basis. 

7.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
As well as being a statutory requirement, the review addresses several priorities 
within the City Plan, including the aims and objectives to improve voter turnout and 
to provide services which are accessible to all communities.

7.5 Equality Implications
The recommended changes to polling districts and polling places take into account 
the provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, Representation of the People Act 1983 
and the Equalities and Human Rights Commission guidance relating to the duty to 
make reasonable adjustments to polling places. 

The Electoral Commission guidance relating to reviews of polling districts, polling 
places and polling stations also states that local authorities have a duty to review the 
accessibility of all polling places to disabled voters and ensure that every polling 
place, and prospective polling place, for which it is responsible is accessible to 
disabled voters so far as is reasonable and practicable.

An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out on the review. The key findings 
are that:

 All polling places identified in the review are able to meet necessary 
accessibility standards for those with disabilities;

 It is not possible to eliminate the need to use certain types of venues which 
may have some equality implications- for example, use of pubs, places of 
worship and schools. However it is possible to put measures in place at 

Page 10



individual polling places to ensure that any adverse impact is mitigated as far 
as possible;

 The ability to vote by post or by proxy provides a degree of mitigation for any 
voters who may prefer not to use their designated polling place;

 Electoral law establishes a stringent regime to protect the rights of voters, 
including as to their privacy and proximity to a polling place. Therefore within 
the constraints of this electoral regime, the available resources and sites and 
the geographic boundaries, the polling places identified in the review are 
considered appropriate to meet the needs of the communities of Worcester 
City.

7.6 Human Resources Implications
A slight reduction in staffing levels for polling staff is identified in the Financial 
Implications section above.

7.7 Health and Safety Implications
The health and safety implications of each polling place have been assessed as part 
of the review.

7.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications 
As identified above, the review should assist the Council in demonstrating several 
City Plan priorities to improve outcomes for the communities of Worcester.

Ward(s): ALL
Contact Officer: Democratic and Electoral Services Manager & Deputy 

Returning Officer- Claire Chaplin
Email: Claire.chaplin@worcester.gov.uk
Tel: 01905 722005

Background Papers: The Electoral Commission: Reviews of polling district, 
polling places and polling stations
Equality Impact Assessment.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Parliamentary Constituency of Worcester

Review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations
August 2019

Proposals 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix 1



Key: 

* No change proposed for the following reasons:

The polling district boundary is well-defined and there are suitable transport links within the polling district. The location of the 
polling place is reasonably accessible within the polling district and the size of the polling place is capable of accommodating all 
voters going into and out of the polling station including where there is a high turnout. 

The building is readily available in the event of any unscheduled elections and there is no possibility that the building may be 
demolished at the time of publication of this document as part of a new development. The building is also accessible to all 
entitled to attend the polling place. 

The polling station is of an appropriate size to allow for an effective throughput of voters, including in those instances where 
there is a high number of electors in the polling station at any one time on polling day. The polling station provides suitable 
conditions for the elector to vote in private and for staff to conduct elections in an efficient and effective manner and for those 
entitled to observe the voting process to do so without compromising the secrecy of the ballot. 

As part of on-going monitoring and reviewing of polling districts, polling places and polling stations carried out by the City 
Council, any feedback and concerns received from stakeholders during previous elections has been addressed, and where 
appropriate factored in to existing and proposed future arrangements. Assessments carried out by Electoral Officers on election 
days have also been taken into consideration. 

~ Change proposed for the following reasons in accordance with the legislative requirements regarding the 
designation of polling districts and polling places:

The Council must designate a polling place for each polling district, unless the size of other circumstances of a polling district are 
such that the situation of the polling stations does not materially affect the convenience of the electors.

The polling place must be an area in the district, unless special circumstances make it desirable to designate an area wholly or 
partly outside the district (for example, if no accessible polling place can be identified in the district).

The polling place must be small enough to indicate to electors in different parts of the district how they will be able to reach the 
polling station. 

The Council must seek to ensure that all electors in a consistency in the local authority area have such reasonable facilities for 
voting as are practicable in the circumstances. 

The Council must seek to ensure that so far as reasonable and practicable every polling place for which it is responsible is 
accessible to electors who are disabled. 

The Council must have regard to the accessibility to disable persons of potential polling stations in any place which it is 
considering designating as a polling place or the designation of which as a polling place it is reviewing.

Proposed Change 

P
age 14



Ward: Arboretum 
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

A1 St, George’s Church,
St George’s Square

WR1 1HX

The Magdalene Room 1099 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied and 4 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 15



Ward: Arboretum 
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

A2 St Mary’s Church, 
Northfield Street

WR1 1NS

The Church Hall 1557 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
7 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 16



Ward: Arboretum 
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

A3 Goodrest Tavern, 
Barker St/Gillam St

WR3 8NP

The Skittle Alley 1100 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 
While the polling place and polling station are located just outside of the polling district and electoral ward boundary, there are 
currently no suitable, available alternative venues within the polling district boundary. The location of the Goodrest Tavern is closer to 
the majority of the polling district’s (A3) electorate than other existing polling places/stations within the Arboretum Ward. The location 
of this polling place also avoids the barrier of a canal which would require crossing should other existing polling stations within the 
Ward be used.  Access to the polling station is via a separate entrance to that of the main bar. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Satisfied and 7 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 17



Ward: Arboretum 
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

A4 Sharman Close, 
Somers Road

WR1 3LB

The Club Room 989 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 5 Very Satisfied.

P
age 18



Ward: Battenhall
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

B1 Redhill Primary School, 
Midhurst Close

WR5 2HX

The Community Room 939 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 3 Satisfied and 5 very satisfied.
1 Dissatisfied with the use of schools in general as polling places/stations. 

P
age 19



Ward: Battenhall
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

B2
B3

St Marks Church,
Orchard Street

WR5 3DW

The Church B2 – 
1416

B3 –
1246

2 Cherry Orchard 
Primary School, 

Timberdine Close, 
WR5 2DD

St Marks Church is 
located within polling 

district D1 in 
Cathedral Ward and 
the proposed polling 

place and polling 
station are located 

approximately in the 
middle of B2 and B3 

combined.  
(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ Proposal to use Cherry Orchard Primary School as St Marks Church is located outside the ward and district boundary in D1.  Cherry 
Orchard Primary School is located within polling district B2. There are currently no suitable, available alternative venues within the 
polling district boundary of B3. However, the school is approximately located in the middle of polling districts B2 and B3 combined. The 
proposed use of Cherry Orchard Primary School meets all/most of criteria set by the Electoral Commission. Electors comments 
received to date have identified that the previously used polling place of Blessed Edward Oldcorne Catholic College which is located 
next to Cherry Orchard Primary School was within walking distance and therefore easier to get to.  

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
Comments received for existing arrangement: 1 Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 3 Very Satisfied
Comments received for future arrangements: 34 Very Dissatisfied, 2 Dissatisfied, 4 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 3 Satisfied, 5 
Very Satisfied.
Very dissatisfied comments received in relation to the perceived disruption to the running of the school. 

P
age 20



Ward: Battenhall
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

B4 Redhill Social Club, 
Foxwell Street

WR5 2ET

The Annex 509 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very Dissatisfied and 4 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 21



Ward: Bedwardine
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

C1 St John’s Youth Centre, 
Swanpool Walk

WR2 4EL

The Main Hall 795 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.   

(Acting)Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 2 Satisfied and 5 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 22



Ward: Bedwardine
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

C2 Bromwich Road Mission 
Free Church,

Bromwich Road
WR2 4AS

Sunday School Hall 1116 1 Change polling station 
to The Garden Room.

The Garden Room 
provides level 

disabled access 
without the need of a 
temporary ramp and 

meets all/most of 
criteria set by the 

Electoral Commission.      
(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No Change proposed to the polling district and polling place.  
~ It is proposed that, as the existing polling station requires the installation of a temporary ramp for every election, the Garden Room 
is used as the polling station as the room is of adequate size and provides level disabled assess.  

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
3 Very Satisfied. 
1 Very Dissatisfied.

P
age 23



Ward: Bedwardine
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

C3 Pitmaston Primary 
School, 

Bromwich Road
WR2 4ZF

KS2 Hall 838 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.   

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied and 3 Very Satisfied. 
1 Very dissatisfied with the use of schools as polling places/stations.

P
age 24



Ward: Bedwardine
Existing Temporary Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

C4 Portobello Public 
House, Bransford Road

WR2 4EZ

The Skittle Alley 1002 2 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ The Skittle Alley at the Portobello Public House, Bransford Road was used as a temporary polling station in 2019 and it is proposed 
that it will remain in place as a permanent arrangement. The previous polling place/station used was a portakabin located in the car 
park of the Berkeley Arms Public House.  The polling place is accessible within the polling district and the Skittle Alley has adequate 
space to accommodate two polling stations and provides level access. Electors comments received to date have identified that the 
polling place provides ample car parking facilities, is easier to access with a pushchair and is a better arrangement than the use of the 
previous portakabin.   

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Satisfied and 7 Very Satisfied. 
1 Dissatisfied, too far to walk.  

P
age 25



Ward: Bedwardine
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

C5 The Church of Jesus 
Christ of Latter Day 

Saints, 
Canada Way

WR2 4ED

The Cultural Hall 1627 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Very satisfied. 
1 Very Dissatisfied with using religious establishments as polling places. 

P
age 26



Ward: Bedwardine
Existing Temporary Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

C6A
C6B

Portobello Public 
House, Bransford Road

The Skittle Alley C6A – 
950

C6B – 
7

1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
*No change proposed. 
While the polling place and polling station are located just outside of the polling district boundary, in polling district C4, there are 
currently no suitable, available alternative venues within the polling district boundary. The Skittle Alley located within the Portobello 
Public House is currently used as a polling station for polling district C4, the room has level access and is of adequate size to 
accommodate two polling stations. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 27



Ward: Cathedral
Existing Temporary Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

D1 Car Park Adjoining Play 
Area,

Waverley Street
WR5 3DH

Portakabin 1869 1 Change polling place 
and polling station to 

St Marks Church
 Orchard Street

WR5 3DW.

St Marks Church 
meets all/most of 
criteria set by the 

Electoral Commission.

    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ St Marks Church is within the polling district boundary of D1 and meets all/most of criteria set by the Electoral Commission. 
Portakabins are only used when no other suitable alternative venue is available and there is a suitable location within the polling 
district to accommodate a portakabin. It is proposed that the polling place/station for polling districts B2 and B3, which is currently St 
Marks Church, be changed to Cherry Orchard Primary School, thus making St Marks Church available for the electorate of polling 
district D1. Electors’ comments received to date have recommended the use of St Marks Church as the polling place/station for the 
electorate of polling district D1.    

The portakabin on the car park adjoining the play area, Waverley Street, has been used as a temporary polling place/station until such 
time as a suitable alternative was identified.  

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
Comments received for existing arrangement: 1 Very Dissatisfied, 2 Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 3 Very Satisfied
Comments received for proposed future arrangement: 1 Very Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 7 Very Satisfied. 
Very dissatisfied with the use of schools as polling places/stations.

P
age 28



Ward: Cathedral
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

D2 Guildhall,
High Street

The Green Room, 1808 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.       

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Dissatisfied, 1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 2 Satisfied and 6 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 29



Ward: Cathedral
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

D3
D4A
D4B

Horizon Community 
Centre, 

Midland Road
WR5 1DS

Meeting Room 1 – D3
Meeting Room 2 – D4A 

D4B

D3 – 
1850

D4A –
1378

D4B –
246

2 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 
While the polling place and polling station are located just outside of the polling district boundary for D4A and D4B and are located in 
D3, there are currently no suitable, available alternative venues within the polling district boundaries of D4A and D4B. The Horizon 
Community Centre is located approximately in the middle of polling districts D3, D4A and D4B combined. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 3 Satisfied and 7 Very Satisfied.
1 Very dissatisfied with distance to travel and steep hill walk. 
 

P
age 30



Ward: Cathedral
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

D5 Swan Theatre, 
The Moors
WR1 3ED

The Sama Room 1081 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Proposal:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied and 4 Very Satisfied.

P
age 31



Ward: Claines
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

E1 Claines Royal British 
Legion, 

Cornmeadow Lane

The Main Hall 1206 1 Worcester Lawn Tennis 
Club, 

Club House,
Northwick Close

WR3 7EF

More 
accessible/closer for 
electors in polling 
district E1 as the 

existing polling place 
is located within 

polling district E4.     
(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ It is proposed that the polling place/station be changed to Worcester Lawn Tennis Club, Club House which is located in polling 
district E2 and is currently used as polling place/station for polling district E2. The location of the Tennis Club is closer to the majority 
of the electorate in polling district E1 than the location of Claines Royal British Legion. The Main Hall of the Tennis Club is of 
appropriate size to accommodate two polling stations.  

Electors’ comments received to date, particularly by the electorate within the Northwick area of the polling district, have indicated a 
preference to use Worcester Lawn Tennis Club, as the venue is considered to be closer and more accessible than the existing polling 
station. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
Comments received for existing arrangement: 4 Dissatisfied
Dissatisfied with existing arrangement, would prefer proposed future arrangement as closer to those electors living in the Northwick 
area of the polling district. 
Comments received for proposed future arrangement: 1 Dissatisfied, 1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied and 2 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 32



Ward: Claines
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

E2 Worcester Lawn Tennis 
Club, 

Northwick Close
WR3 7EF

The Club House 1112 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied and 6 Very Satisfied. 
1 Dissatisfied with no public transport directly to polling place.  

P
age 33



Ward: Claines
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

E3 Ombersley Road 
Methodist Church,
Ombersley Road

WR3 7BW

The Church Hall 919 1 Gheluvelt Sons of Rest 
Building,

Lavender Road
WR1 3EX

The proposed polling 
place/station provides 
improved access for 

electors who are 
disabled.       

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ The existing polling place presents access issues due to the gradient of the car park and permanent ramp structure leading from the 
pavement to the polling place in its entirety. It is proposed to use the Gheluvelt Sons of Rest Building, Lavender Road, as the building 
provides level disabled access into the polling station. The proposed building is located within the polling district within the prominent 
and well known Gheluvelt Park and meets all/most of criteria set by the Electoral Commission. 

Electors’ comments received to date have identified that the existing polling place/station arrangements are not suitable for electors 
using manual wheelchairs. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
Comments received for existing arrangement: 1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 2 Very Satisfied. 
Comments received for proposed future arrangement: 2 Satisfied and 4 Very Satisfied.

P
age 34



Ward: Claines
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

E4
E5

Claines Church Hall, 
Cornmeadow Lane

WR3 7NY

The Church Hall E4 –
1178

E5 –
1104

2 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 
While the polling place and polling station are located within polling district E4, there are currently no suitable, available venues within 
the polling district boundary of E5. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
3 Satisfied and 5 Very Satisfied.

P
age 35



Ward: Claines
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

E6 Bishop Allenby Hall 
(Adjoining St Stephen’s 

Church), 
Droitwich Road

WR3 7HS

Bishop Allenby Hall 954 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.  

Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. However in response to comments received regarding the level of lighting, improved temporary lighting to be 
used. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 5 Very Satisfied.
1 Dissatisfied as Hall is not available for other functions on polling day.

P
age 36



Ward: Gorse Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

F1 Warndon Community 
Centre, 

Shap Drive
WR4 9NX

Hall 1 562 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 37



Ward: Gorse Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

F2 Keswick and Langdale, 
Communal Room, 
Off Langdale Close

WR4 9UL

Keswick and Langdale, 
Communal Room, 
Off Langdale Close

836 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.   

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments: 
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
None.

P
age 38



Ward: Gorse Hill
Existing Temporary Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

F3 Car Park, Frontage of 
Shops, Ambleside 

Drive
WR4 9DA

Portakabin 1007 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.
The portakabin on the car frontage of shops, Ambleside Drive, has been used as a polling place/station since 2015 and it is proposed 
that this will remain in place as a permanent arrangement as there is currently no available, suitable venue within the polling district 
boundary.  Measures to identify an available, suitable polling place/station will continue. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied. 

P
age 39



Ward: Gorse Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

F4 Car Park, The Virgin 
Tavern, Tolladine Road

WR4 9BJ

Portakabin 1514 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.
The portakabin on the car park of the Virgin Tavern, Tolladine Road has been used as a polling place/station since 2015 and it is 
proposed that this will remain in place as a permanent arrangement as there is currently no available, suitable venue within the polling 
district boundary.  Measures to identify an available, suitable polling place/station will continue.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied and 2 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 40



Ward: Nunnery
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

G1
G2

Medway Youth Club,
The Old Scout Hut, 
16 Medway Road

WR5 1LN

The Hall G1 –
832

G2 –
1263

2 No change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
*No change proposed. 
While the polling place and polling station are located within the polling district boundary of G1, there are currently no suitable, 
available alternative venues within the polling district boundary of G2. The Medway Youth Club is of adequate size to easily 
accommodate two polling stations. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied.
1 Dissatisfied and 1 Very Dissatisfied with parking facility and external lighting level.  

P
age 41



Ward: Nunnery
Existing Temporary Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

G3 MGM Philadelphia 
Christian Assembly, 

Norwich Road
WR5 1NX

The Hall 1224 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ The use of the Hall, Christian Assembly, Norwich Road has been used as a temporary polling place/station in 2019 and it is proposed 
that it will remain in place as a permanent arrangement. The previous polling place/station used was the Punch Bowl Public House, 
Lichfield Avenue and was deemed unsuitable following comments made by Polling Station Inspectors in 2018.  

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 42



Ward: Nunnery
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

G4 Lincoln Green, 
Off Chelmsford Drive

WR5 1QU

Community Room 976 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied and 1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 43



Ward: Nunnery
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements 

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

G5
G6

Nunnery Wood Sports 
Complex, Spetchley 

Road
WR5 2NL

Squash Court 1
Squash Court 2 

786
1016

2 To merge polling 
districts G5 and G6 and 
rename merged polling 

district G5. 

Following 
consideration of 

comments received. 

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
The merging of polling districts G5 and G6 will give a total electorate of 1802 which is considered by the Electoral Commission to be an 
appropriate number of electors to vote at one polling station. Therefore one polling station will be required at Nunnery Wood Sports 
Complex where a suitable polling station is already in existence. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 4 Satisfied and 4 Very Satisfied.
1 Dissatisfied with parking facility and distance to polling station.   

P
age 44



Ward: Rainbow Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

H1 St Barnabas Church, 
Green Lane
WR3 8NY

The Church Hall 1022 2 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Satisfied and 1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 45



Ward: Rainbow Hill
Existing Temporary Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

H2 St Barnabas Church 
Green Lane
WR3 8NY

The Church Hall 536 2 No Change. Existing temporary 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ St Barnabas Church, Green Lane which is location in polling district H1 has been used as a temporary polling place/station in 2019 
for polling district H2 and it is proposed that it will remain in place. The Church Hall is currently used as a polling station for polling 
district H1 and is of adequate size to accommodate two polling stations   The previous polling place/station used was the Baptist 
Church, Rainbow Hill which closed in 2018 and at the current time there is no available, suitable venue within the polling district 
boundary. 

An elector comment received to date has identified that walking up and down a hill to the Church may be an issue for electors with 
mobility problems. Measures to identify an available, suitable polling place/station will continue.   

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 46



Ward: Rainbow Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

H3A
H3B

Tolly Centre, 
Rowan Avenue

WR4 9QW

The Play Room H3A – 
850

H3B –
414

1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very satisfied.
1 Very dissatisfied with the condition of the building and safety of the surrounding area. 

P
age 47



Ward: Rainbow Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

H4 Furness Close,
Off Langdale Drive

WR4 9DX

The Community Room 649 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 48



Ward: Rainbow Hill
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

H5 King George V 
Community Centre, 

Ash Avenue
WR4 9TL

The Meeting Room 647 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 
While, the polling place and polling station are located within polling district H4, there are currently no suitable, available venues within 
the polling district boundary of H5.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
None.

P
age 49



Ward: St. Clement
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

J1 Comer Gardens 
Institute, 

Comer Gardens
WR2 6JH

The Hall 850 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied and 1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 50



Ward: St. Clement
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

J2 Himbleton House 
Sheltered 

Accommodation, 
Himbleton Road

WR2 6HS

The Community Room 2022 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
5 Very Satisfied and 1 Dissatisfied.

P
age 51



Ward: St. Clement
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

J3A
J3B

Y.M.C.A, 
Henwick Road

Teme/
Badminton  

Room,
Y.M.C.A, 

Henwick Road

J3A –
461

J3B –
336

1 Change polling place 
and polling station to 

Learning Space, 
Riverside Building, 

University of 
Worcester, Severn 

Campus, Hylton Road, 
Worcester, WR2 5JN

The Y.M.C.A building 
has recently been 
sold and its future 

intended use is 
unknown.     

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
The proposed polling place and polling station provide a suitable venue as they are located within the polling district boundary and are 
accessible to electors who are disabled.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very satisfied.

P
age 52



Ward: St. Clement
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

J4 Oldbury Park Primary 
School,

 Oldbury Road
WR2 6AA

Main Hall 418 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.       

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. However additional measures will be put in place to ensure the segregation of voters and children attending 
the school.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very satisfied.
Safeguarding concerns raised by the Head Teacher which have been considered and addressed by the(Acting) Returning Officer to the 
satisfaction of the Head Teacher. 

P
age 53



Ward: St. John
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

K1
K2
K3

The Green Centre, 
Gresham Road

The Hall – K1 & K2
Doris Hunt Room – K3

K1 –
918

K2 –
1130

K3 –
1140

3 K2 - No Change.

To merge polling 
districts K1 and K3 and 
rename merged polling 

district K1.

 

Following 
consideration of 

comments received.   

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
The merging of polling districts K1 and K3 will give a total electorate of 2058 which is considered by the Electoral Commission to be an 
appropriate number of electors to vote at one polling station. Therefore two polling stations will be required at The Green Centre where 
a suitable polling station is already in existence to accommodate the existing polling district K2 and the proposed new polling district 
K1. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 3  Satisfied and 1 Very Satisfied. 

P
age 54



Ward: St. John
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

K4 Dancox House, 
St Clement’s Gardens

WR2 5DZ

The Community Room 706 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
3 Very Satisfied.

P
age 55



Ward: St. John
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

K5A
K5B

The Methodist Church, 
Bromyard Road

WR2 5DL

The Sunshine Room K5A –
520

K5B –
365

1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
3 Very Satisfied and 1 Satisfied. 

P
age 56



Ward: St. John
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

K6 The Bedwardine Inn, 
Bromyard Road

WR2 5DJ

Portakabin 1267 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed. 
While the polling place/station are located in polling district K5B, there is currently no available, suitable venue within the polling 
district boundary of K6.  The portakabin on the car park of the Bedwardine Inn, Bromyard Road has been used as a polling 
place/station since 2015 and it is proposed that this will remain in place as a permanent arrangement. Measures to identify an 
available, suitable polling place/station will continue. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 2 Satisfied and 1 Very Satisfied.
1 Very dissatisfied with walking distance and parking facility. 
 

P
age 57



Ward: St. Peter’s
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

L1
L2
L3

St Peter’s Village Hall,
St Peter’s Drive

WR5 3TA

St Peter’s Village Hall,
St Peter’s Drive

L1 –
1666

L2 –
1301

L3 –
1571

3 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.
While the polling place and polling station are located in the polling district boundary for L2, there are currently no suitable, available 
alternative venues within the polling district boundaries of L1 and L3.  The Village Hall is located approximately in the middle of polling 
districts L1, L2 and L3 combined.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
3 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 5 Satisfied and 29 Very Satisfied.
Negative comments received in relation to the proposed future arrangement to use Cherry Orchard Primary School as a Polling Place 
for Polling District B2 and B3.

P
age 58



Ward: St. Stephen
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place 

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

M1 Bilford Court, 
Off Southdown Road

WR3 8HY

Community Room 2093 1 No Change to polling 
place/station.

Change polling district 
boundary to take out 

the following from 
polling district M1, and 
include them within the 

polling district M3:

 Gregorys Bank
Brickwharf Drive
Gregorys Court
Kiln Crescent

Tile Court, on Kiln 
Crescent

Brick Court, on Kiln 
Crescent

Merriman’s Hill (Part)

Polling place/station - 
Existing 

arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.  

Polling district – 
Polling district M3 is 
relatively small in 

comparison to polling 
districts M1 and M2. 

The identified 
electorate are closer 
to the existing polling 
place/station located 

within M3.   

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed to the polling place and polling station. 
~ It is proposed to change the district boundary of M1 to take out the addresses identified above and include the addresses within 
polling district M3. Comments received to date from electors within Gregory’s Bank estate and Local Councillors have identified that the 
existing polling place/station is too far travel and that public transport links from the estate are not sufficient.    

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
Comments received for existing arrangement: 3 Very Dissatisfied, 3 Dissatisfied and 2 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied.
Comments received for proposed future arrangements: 1 Very Satisfied. 
Concerns raised regarding limiting resident’s use of the Community Room during polling day. 

P
age 59



Ward: St. Stephen
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling 
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

M2 Perdiswell Primary 
School, 

Bilford Road
WR3 8QA

Stanbrook Hall,
Perdiswell Primary 

School, 
Bilford Road

1615 1 Alma Tavern,
74 Droitwich Road 

WR3 7HT

Where an alternative 
suitable, available 

polling place/station 
is available within the 

polling district, in 
order to minimise any 

disruption to the 
operation of the 

school the alternative 
is used. 

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
~ It is proposed to use the Alma Tavern located on Droitwich Road within the polling district of M2 as the polling place, with the use 
the Skittle Alley within the Tavern as the polling station. The Skittle Alley has a separate entrance to that of the main bar and also has 
purpose built disabled access. The Tavern also meets all/most of criteria set by the Electoral Commission and has recently been 
refurbished and reopened after a period of being closed. 

Comments received to date from electors have identified their dissatisfaction with the use of the existing polling place/station due to 
the disruption caused by the school closing on polling day. Until the current time, following continuous assessments of the polling 
district area, a suitable alternative polling place/station that meets with the criteria set out by the Electoral Commission has not been 
available with the polling district boundary of M2.   

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
Comments received for existing arrangement: 24 Very Dissatisfied, 6 Dissatisfied, 1 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied and 1 Satisfied.
Comments received for proposed future arrangement: 5 Very Satisfied.

P
age 60



Ward: St. Stephen
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

M3 St George’s C of E 
Primary School,
St George’s Lane

WR1 1RD

Class Room,
St George’s C of E 
Primary School,
St George’s Lane

720 1 No Change to polling 
place/station.

Change polling district 
boundary of M3 to 

include the following 
addresses which are 
currently situated in 
polling district M1: 

 Gregorys Bank
Brickwharf Drive
Gregorys Court
Kiln Crescent

Tile Court, on Kiln 
Crescent

Brick Court, on Kiln 
Crescent

Merriman's Hill (Part) 

Polling place/station - 
Existing 

arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.  

Polling district – 
Polling district M3 is 
relatively small in 

comparison to polling 
districts M1 and M2. 

The identified 
electorate currently 

situated within polling 
district M1 are closer 
to the existing polling 
place/station located 
within polling district 

M3.
(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed to the polling place and polling station. 
~ It is proposed to change the district boundary of M3 to include the addresses identified above which are currently situated in polling 
district M1.  (See proposals made for polling district boundary M1). 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
1 Very Satisfied.

P
age 61



Ward: Warndon
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

N1 Fairfield Centre, 
Carnforth Drive

WR4 9HG

Seminar 2,
Fairfield Centre, 
Carnforth Drive

1296 1 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
4 Satisfied and 4 Very Satisfied.

P
age 62



Ward: Warndon
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

N2
N3

St Wulstan’s Church 
Hall, Cranham Drive

WR4 9PA

Church Hall N2 –
1713
N3 –
923

2 To merge polling 
districts N2 and N3 and 
rename merged polling 

district N2.

Following 
consideration of 

comments received. 

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
The merging of polling districts N2 and N3 will give a total electorate of 2636 which is considered by the Electoral Commission to be 
slightly above the appropriate number of electors to vote at one polling station. However, as the existing polling place is a suitable 
venue and has the capacity to locate two polling stations in addition to providing access to electors who are disabled, the proposal 
allows for the existing arrangements to remain in place. 

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
2 Neither Satisfied nor Dissatisfied, 1 Satisfied and 3 Very Satisfied.

P
age 63



Ward: Warndon Parish North
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

P1 Woodgreen Evangelical 
Church, 

Hastings Drive

Main Hall,
Woodgreen Evangelical 

Church Hall, 
Hastings Drive

4089 3 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
3 Satisfied and 25 Very Satisfied.
1 Dissatisfied and 2 Very Dissatisfied with using religious establishments as polling places. 

P
age 64



Ward: Warndon Parish South
Existing Arrangements Proposed Future Arrangements

Polling 
District

Polling Place Polling Station No. of 
Electors

No. of 
Stations 

at 
Polling
Place

Recommended 
Proposal for Change 

to Polling 
District/Place/ 

Station

Reason(s) Why

Q1
Q2

Lyppard Grange 
Community Centre, 
Ankerage Green, Off 

Millwood Drive
WR4 0DZ

Hall 1,
Lyppard Grange 

Community Centre, 
Ankerage Green, Off 

Millwood Drive

Q1 – 
4088

Q2 – 
226

3 No Change. Existing 
arrangements for 
Polling District/ 

Place/Station meet 
all/most of criteria set 

by the Electoral 
Commission.    

(Acting) Returning Officer’s Comments:
* No change proposed.

Comments Received from Electors and Other Interested Persons and Bodies:
13 Very Satisfied and 1 Satisfied.
1 Dissatisfied with walking distance to polling place.
1 Very Dissatisfied.

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The Electoral Commission
Polling Place / Polling Station – Evaluation Checklist

Polling place review
Check √ Comment
 Are there suitable transport links?

 Are there any access issues regarding 
main/busy roads, railways, rivers, etc.? 

 Is the polling place capable of accommodating 
more than one polling station together with the 
necessary staff and equipment? If so, could it 
accommodate all allocated voters going in and 
out of the polling stations, even where there is a 
high turnout?

 Is the building readily available in the event of 
any unscheduled elections?

 Is there any possibility that the building may be 
demolished as part of a new development?

External areas access and facilities
Check (√) Comments
 Are there good public transport links to the 

polling place?
 Is the approach to the building safe and free from 

obstructions and does it have a dropped kerb?
 Is the building clearly identifiable?
 Is additional signage required between street and 

entrance?
 Is there the facility to put up the required signage 

for polling day?
 Are there parking facilities for disabled people?
 Are there parking facilities for polling staff?
 Does the approach to the building have external 

lighting?
 Does the building have level access? Yes/No. 
If no –

 Has a purpose built ramp been installed?
 If so, does it have a handrail?
 Does the ramp have a gentle slope?
 Does the building require a temporary ramp or is 

there an alternative disabled access?
 Is the entrance door wide enough for a disabled 

person using a motorised wheelchair?
 Are the doors light enough for frail/elderly voters 

to open?
 Can the ‘Guidance for voters’ notice be clearly 

displayed outside the premises, as required by 
the election rules?

 Are there any external security concerns?
 Can tellers be accommodated outside the 

building?

Page 67 Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2



Internal areas access and facilities
Check (√) Comments
 Are all doors easy to open (including by 

wheelchair users) or do they need to be 
permanently locked back?

 Are there any internal steps or 
obstructions/hazards?

 Are any doormats level with the floor?
 Is the floor covering non-slip (including in wet 

weather)?
 Are there any corridors that may cause access 

problems?
 Is there adequate lighting in the corridors?
 Are there toilet facilities?
 Is there a kitchen that staff can use?
 Is the area adequately lit for day and night time? 
 Is there adequate space for signage?
 How many polling stations can the building 

accommodate?
 Does the building have a telephone available 

(land line) in the event of mobile network 
problems?

The polling station(s)
Check (√) Comments
 Is there sufficient space to accommodate and 

manage the flow of a high volume of electors in 
the case of a high turnout of electors?

 If multiple polling stations need to be provided, 
are there other rooms available, or can the space 
be clearly divided to provide adequate room for 
more than one polling station?

 Is there sufficient space inside the polling station 
to comfortably accommodate staff, voters, polling 
agents and observers?

 Could ballot booths be positioned in a way that 
would preserve the secrecy of the ballot, even 
where there may be a high volume of electors?

 Is there adequate lighting for day and night time?
 Is there suitable furniture (tables and chairs) 

available for all types of election for polling staff 
and for those voters who may need to rest?

 Could motorised wheelchairs be accommodated?
 Can the official notices be clearly displayed, 

including the large-print version of the ballot 
paper(s)?

Page 68



1  

Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 4th November 2019    

Report of: Head of People Services  

Subject: RECRUITMENT POLICY & PROCEDURE

1. Recommendation

1.1 To approve the proposed amendments to the Recruitment Policy & 
Procedure.

2. Background

2.1 The current Recruitment Policy came into effect in July 2015 and is therefore 
overdue for review. The update to this policy has so far incorporated feedback from 
the People Services team, and technological advances within the Council. The key 
changes include:

2.2 References to HR changed to People Services; and references to Service Manager 
changed to Head of Service.

2.3 References to Two Ticks “Positive about Disability” Scheme changed to Disability 
Confident Scheme.

2.4 Introduction of Generic Role Profiles and Task Specifics following the re-working of 
the Council’s pay structure in 2016.

2.5 System improvements meaning that applicants now have the option of attaching a 
CV rather than complete an online application form; and much of the induction 
process is now completed on the Learning Lounge via e-learning.  

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
This policy is designed to ensure that we comply with relevant legislation and the 
Equalities Act in particular.  An Equality Impact Assessment of this policy is 
scheduled for the first half on 2020.

3.3 Risk Implications
This policy is designed to ensure that that we practice safe recruitment, such that we 
make sure we have proper regard to candidates’ history and background including 
DBS checks where appropriate.  Additionally it puts in place a process to ensure that 
we establish candidates’ right to work in the UK before appointing anyone. 

Page 69 Agenda Item 6



2  

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None.  

3.5 Equality Implications
This policy and our training for recruiters is designed to rule out practices that might 
lead to unlawful discrimination taking place during recruitment and selection.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
As above

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
None

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Hilary Price  01905 722055  

hilary.price@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 70



 

  1

 

Worcester City Council 

RECRUITMENT POLICY 

& PROCEDURE 
DATE:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title  Recruitment Policy & Procedure 
Status  Draft 
Document Version V0.3 
Author  Hilary Price 
Sponsor Mark Edwards 
Owner People Services 
Approved by  
Approved date  
Review frequency Bi-annual 
Next Review: 2021 

Version History  

Version Date Description 

0.1  First draft of amended policy  
0.2 May 2019 To People Services team for 

comment 
   
   
   
   
   
   

Page 71 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 

  2

Contents 

 

1 Introduction .......................................................................................... 3 

2 Purpose ................................................................................................ 3 

3 Scope ................................................................................................... 3 

4 General Principles .................................................................................. 4 

5 Recruitment and Selection Procedure ....................................................... 4 

5.1 Obtaining Authority to Recruit ................................................................. 4 
5.2 Advertisement ....................................................................................... 5 
5.3 Publicising the Vacancy .......................................................................... 5 
5.4 Social Media .......................................................................................... 6 
5.5 Managing the Application Process ............................................................ 6 

6 Induction .............................................................................................. 9 

7 Probationary Period ................................................................................ 9 

8 Complaints Procedure ............................................................................ 9 

9 Related Policies, Documents and Guidance ................................................ 9 

10   Appendices……………………………………………………………………………………………….……10  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



 

  3

1  

1 Introduction 

 

The Council aims at all times to recruit the person who is most suited to the 
particular job. Recruitment should be on the basis of the applicant’s abilities and 
individual merits, measured against the job criteria and competencies.   

Employees should be appointed in accordance with relevant statutory 
obligations, codes of practice and in line with the relevant policies and 
procedures.  

No job applicant or employee will receive less favourable treatment because of 
their race, sex, religion or belief, disability, marital or civil partnership status, 
age, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, or caring 
responsibilities; or will be disadvantaged by conditions or requirements which 
cannot be justified.   

Whilst the Council encourages “growing from within” to meet its employment 
needs, there will be times where we have to look outside for new and fresh 
talent.  

 

2 Purpose 

 

The purpose of this policy is to provide a procedural framework for recruitment 
and selection which: 

• Ensures that through consistent procedures and fair criteria, the best 
person is appointed to meet the requirements of every vacancy, based on 
merit.   

• Promotes the Council’s values. 
• Seeks to redeploy existing staff who are on the redeployment register in 

the first instance. (See Redeployment Policy) 
• Ensures equality of opportunity for all applicants and that all candidates 

are treated with respect and courtesy, aiming to create a positive 
candidate experience irrespective of the outcome. 

• Ensures that the recruitment and selection of staff is conducted in a 
professional, timely and responsive manner and is fully compliant with 
relevant employment legislation.  

 

3 Scope 

 

 This policy shall apply to all employees and potential employees.  

Elected members are responsible for appointing the Managing Director, 
Corporate Directors and Heads of Service.   

Page 73



 

  4

 

All recruiting managers should have undertaken the Council’s Recruitment 
training which focuses on legal and appropriate recruitment practices and 
practical tips on attracting talent and interviewing techniques.   

 

4 General Principles 

 

 Appointments must be based on merit. Principles including fairness, 
credibility and equal employment opportunity underpin recruitment and 
selection at Worcester City Council. 

 Vacancies are normally advertised and managed on WMJobs, a public sector 
job site for the West Midlands.  

 

5 Recruitment and Selection Procedure 

 

5.1 Obtaining Authority to Recruit 

All vacancies within the agreed establishment must have Head of Service, 
Finance and HR approval prior to being advertised via WM Jobs.   The 
approval process is also undertaken via WM Jobs. (For further details on the 
approval process, please refer to the manager guidelines on how to place and 
approve a vacancy). 

In the first instance, all vacancies must be considered for a traineeship / 
apprenticeship, and if this is not considered suitable, then the Recruiting 
Manager will need to submit a business case to justify this. 

Jobs which differ from the agreed establishment must have CLT approval of a 
business case for the change.   

Where there is a proposal to amend an existing post within budget or to 
move a post from one service to another but within the same Directorate, 
People Services will amend the WM Jobs approval chain to include Corporate 
Director approval.  
 
Where a post is not in the current establishment a business case must first 
be submitted to CLT for approval.    
       
 The following information is required before starting the process:  

 Generic Role Profile, Task Specifics and Person Specification 

  The correct generic role profile must be selected for any vacant post that is 
to be filled. 

Page 74



 

  5

 This shows a list of generic responsibilities performed at each job family 
level. (See Appendix 1). 

  The Task Specifics (Appendix 2) and Person Specification (Appendix 3) state 
the essential criteria in terms of skills, aptitudes, knowledge and experience 
that are required for the job, all of which should be directly related to the job 
and applied equally to all applicants. Care should be taken when updating / 
drawing up the Task Specifics and Person Specification to avoid including 
criteria that may have the effect of indirectly discriminating against certain 
groups of applicants. The Task Specifics may be changed as the job evolves 
by agreement with People Services and should not impact the grade.  

  

5.2 Advertisement 

 Advertisements should be based on the Task Specifics and Person 
Specification and identify a number of the essential criteria, as well as 
attracting talent in order to maximise the number of suitably qualified 
applicants.  

 In normal circumstances posts should be advertised both internally and 
externally thus allowing career development opportunities for existing staff 
whilst fulfilling equal opportunities requirements and potentially enhancing 
the diversity of the workforce.   

 

5.3 Publicising the Vacancy 

 Staff subject to redeployment (see Redeployment Policy) may be given 
access to relevant vacancies before they are advertised more generally within 
the Council or externally.  

 All vacancies will be advertised on WM Jobs. The recruiting manager is 
responsible for placing the vacancy details on WM Jobs. (See manager 
guidelines on how to place and approve a vacancy).  

 If the recruiting manager wishes to advertise in specialist / professional 
publications / websites, they should discuss this with People Services.    
 In certain circumstances it may be more effective to use Matrix or a 
recruitment agency than to advertise externally. Approval to do so should be 
sought from People Services and Finance.  

People Services will arrange for the vacancy to be advertised on the 
Government “Find a job” website (previously Universal Jobmatch). 

 

Page 75



 

  6

5.4 Social Media 

  Many employers are increasingly using social media to recruit staff. 
Vacancies should normally always be advertised on WM Jobs alongside any 
social media websites such a Facebook, Twitter or LinkedIn.   

  Applicants must be assessed on the information they have submitted on 
their application form; while background information for example via social 
media can be used to inform a decision as to whether the candidates are 
suitable for interview or appointment, checking their credibility against the 
statements they have made about themselves in the recruitment process, 
recruiters must ensure they are not taking account of information which is 
irrelevant or could be discriminatory in terms of protected characteristics. 

 People Services will arrange for the vacancy to be advertised on social media.  

       

5.5 Managing the Application Process 

5.5.1 Application Forms 

 All applicants need to complete either an online application form or attach a 
CV via the WM Jobs’ website.   

 Applicants are asked to provide equal opportunities details when making their 
application to enable a robust means of monitoring the success of 
recruitment in relation to our diversity aims. The information is separate from 
the job application and applicants are free to indicate that they do not want 
to provide these details.  

 

5.5.2 Shortlisting  

 All applicants should be assessed against the Person Specification and Tasks 
Specifics; and should meet the essential criteria, as a minimum.   

 Notes of the shortlisting decisions for each applicant should be recorded by 
each member of the panel on a Shortlisting Form. (See Appendix 4). 
However, there is also an option to shortlist within the WM Jobs system itself.   

Shortlisting should be undertaken by a minimum of two people to avoid any 
possibility of bias, one of whom would be the direct line manager. At least 
one person should have undertaken the Council’s Recruitment training.  

The Council operates a guaranteed interview scheme. All applicants with a 
disability as defined under the Equality Act 2010, who advise the Council at 
the time of their application and who meet the minimum criteria of the post 
must be offered an interview. This is in accordance with the Disability 
Confident Scheme. 

  

Page 76



 

  7

 

 

5.5.3 Interviews 

 

 Interviews should normally be carried out by a minimum of two people, one 
of whom should normally be the recruiting manager. At least one member of 
the interview panel should have undertaken the Council’s Recruitment 
training. 

  Interview questions and the structure of the interview should be consistently 
applied to all candidates and should be based on the Person Specification/ 
Task Specifics. However, flexibility on where and when interviews take place 
should be allowed, in order to obtain the best candidate. For example, 
interviews via Skype.   

Notes recording the salient points of the interview should be taken so that 
these can be referred back to when assessing candidates against the Person 
Specification / Tasks Specifics and making decisions; and for providing 
feedback. Notes should also focus on capability, attitude/ behaviours and 
values. (See Appendix 5).  

Notes of the interview and any other notes on the candidate taken during the 
recruitment and selection process should be passed back to People Services 
following the selection process and will be kept for a minimum of 6 months.  

Consideration should be given to using job-related selection tests or asking 
candidates to give a presentation as part of the selection process if there are 
some elements of the person specification/task specifics that are difficult to 
test at interview. Tests may include those which are designed to get a feel 
for the individual’s approach, style and/or organisational fit such as those 
which create artificial environments/ live scenarios, to see people in action.  

If selection tests are used, they must be applied to all candidates. It should 
be determined prior to the test date what adjustments (if any) are needed 
for a disabled candidate; reasonable adjustments must be made to ensure 
that a disabled candidate is not disadvantaged by the test format or time 
allowance.  

If within a department, the same job, at the same grade was filled in the six 
months preceding a current recruitment exercise, and there was more than 
one appointable candidate, then the recruiting manager can offer the job to 
the next highest ranked applicant from that process i.e. a reserve candidate, 
after the vacancy has been through redeployment.  

The Council is committed to improving the diversity of our workforce. Where 
two candidates are equally scored following interview, the recruiting manager 

Page 77



 

  8

may appoint a candidate with a protected characteristic which is 
underrepresented within the grade or job.      

 

 

5.5.4 Interview Outcome and Making an Offer 

Normally, the Recruiting Manager will inform the successful candidate 
verbally confirming the conditional offer details, which will be subject to 
confirmation of eligibility to work, medical clearance, satisfactory references 
and a DBS check, where appropriate.  

Once the individual has accepted, the manager should complete an Employee 
New Starter Form – Part 1 and submit to People Services, who will produce 
the conditional offer of employment.    

Appointments will usually be made at the bottom of the grade, unless there 
are exceptional circumstances which should be agreed with the Head of 
People Services.  

The unsuccessful candidates will be notified by email, via WM Jobs. 

5.5.5 Pre-Employment and Vetting Checks 

All offers of employment are subject to a number of pre-employment and 
vetting checks, before a start date is confirmed.  These are normally 
managed by People Services. 

• References (two references are required to include current or most 
recent employer, if applicable); 

• Checking eligibility to work in the United Kingdom   
• Medical Clearance;  
• Checking and verifying qualifications as deemed essential to the post; 
• Completion of a DBS checks, where appropriate.  (The Council uses 

the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checking service to assess 
applicants’ suitability for positions of trust when working with 
vulnerable groups, including children. The Council complies fully with 
the Code of Practice and undertakes to treat all applicants for positions 
fairly. It undertakes not to discriminate unfairly against any subject on 
the basis of conviction or other information revealed). 

 
Once satisfactory clearances have been received, People Services will notify 
the recruiting manager who should contact the new employee to arrange a 
start date. Once a date has been confirmed, the manager should complete an 
Employee New Starter Form – Part 2 for Systems Registration. 
 
Once the employee does start, the manager should also complete an 
Employee New Starter Part 3 – Confirmation of start which should be 
submitted on the first day.   

Page 78



 

  9

 
 
 
 

6 Induction 

 

It is important that new employees receive a well planned induction to 
ensure that they are properly integrated into their job, their Service area and 
the Council. This will also include a People Services induction, which ideally 
should take place within the first week and cover e-learning to be completed 
on the Learning Lounge.  

The induction is our essential welcome to the council sharing the vision, 
values, expected competencies, priorities and services. The induction and on 
boarding period will ensure individuals integrate successfully, are contributing 
to the overall objectives with common behaviours and understand the 
statutory obligations placed upon a local authority.  (For further information, 
please see the Induction guidance document and form on Staff Room).  

 

7 Probationary Period 

 

All new employees to Worcester City Council are subject to a probationary 
period of six months. Objectives to be assessed will be set when the 
employee first starts.  For further information, please see the Probationary 
Guidance document and form on Staff Room.  

 

8 Complaints Procedure 

 

Candidates should make any complaint to People Services in the first 
instance, who will attempt to resolve any concerns, in consultation with the 
recruiting managers, where appropriate. If candidates are not satisfied with 
the outcome, they may make a formal complaint to the Council using the 
Corporate Complaints Procedure which is available on the Council’s website. 
Council employees may use the Council’s Grievance Policy and Procedure.     

 

9 Related Policies, Documents and Guidance 

Supporting guidance, templates and forms for managers for all stages of the 
recruitment process are available on Staff Room. 

Related policies are detailed below and are also available on Staff Room 

Page 79



 

  10

Code of Conduct 

Re-deployment    

Recruitment of Ex-Offenders 

Learning and Development Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



 

  11

 

 

 Appendix 1    

 

ROLE PROFILE  

Job Family:     

Service Area:    

 

  

Grade:    

Responsible to:   

Responsible for:   

Generic Responsibilities 

1.   

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

The ‘role profile’ is the contractual element that your post has been assigned to and 

generically sets out in broad terms the responsibilities the post holder is expected to 

have  

Page 81



 

  12

 
 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Task Specifics 

 

 

JE Reference   

Purpose 

 
Service to Customers 

 
 

Business Improvement/planning responsibility 

 
 

Colleagues, Self and Partners 

 
 

Managing  Resources (people, equipment, buildings)  

Accountability  

 

1.  

Nature of Contacts (internal/external) 

 

 

Procedural Context 

 

 

Key Facts and Figures 

 

Knowledge and Skills 

 
 

Behaviours 

1. Work to the Council’s values 
2. Awareness of the Council’s safeguarding policy in their service area and how to 

report any concerns 
3. Awareness of the Council’s Health and Safety policy in their service area and 

The ‘task specifics’ is the non contractual element that your post has been assigned to 

and is a more detailed description of day to day activity which will be reviewed in line 

with PDR objectives and can change when priorities change.   

Page 82



 

  13

committed to safe working practices 
 

Page 83



 

  14

Appendix 3    Person Specification 

 
POST:  
 
PREPARED BY __________________     DATE _________ ______________ 
 
ATTRIBUTES  REQUIREMENTS  Essential (E) 

or  
Desirable (D) 

HOW 
IDENTIFIED  
(Application 
Form, Interview 
or Test etc)  

WEIGHTING  
HIGH (x3)  
MEDIUM (x2)  
LOW (x1)  

Education and Qualifications  

 

 

   

Work or Other Relevant 

Experience and Associated 

Vocational Training 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Specialist Knowledge  

 

 

   

Job Related Skills and 

Abilities 

 

 

 

   

Physical Abilities (only if a 

justifiable requirement for 

the post) 

    

Other e.g. Availability for 

Unsocial Hours 

 

 

 

   

 

 

  

P
age 84



 

  15

Appendix 4  Shortlisting Form 

 

Post Completed by  Date    

  Applicant 
No. / 

Name 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 Comments 

Criteria            
e.g. educated 
to degree 
level or 
equivalent 

           

 
 

           

 
 

           

 
 

           

 
 

           

 
 

           

 
 

           

Total            
Rate each criteria on a scale of 0 – 4: 
4 – Candidate meets all essential and desirable criteria 
3 – Meets essential criteria 
2 – Partially meets essential criteria 
1 – Limited / unclear evidence of essential criteria 
0 – No evidence of meeting criteria  

P
age 85



 

  16

APPENDIX 5        INTERVIEW ASSESSMENT FORM 

 

NAME:  
 
POST:   

 

 

 
CRITERIA WEIGHT MARK SCORE= 

MARK X 

WEIGHT 

 

EVIDENCE 

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

P
age 86



 

  17

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
 
 
 
 

    

     Total 

     Score 
 
 
Mark:         Weight: 
Can perform well (proven) - 4  
Can perform well (potential) - 3 
Can perform satisfactorily (proven)/willing -  2    H = High - multiply by 3 
Can perform satisfactorily (potential) - 1     M = Medium - multiply by 2 
Cannot perform satisfactorily/unwilling - X (candidate rejected)  L = Low - multiply by 1 

 

P
age 87



Worcester City Council 

 

APPENDIX 6         Recruitment Process Flow Chart 
 

Vacancy arises 
(person leaves or new post created) 

 

                             │ 
 
Replace Re-organise / Don’t replace 

       
Consider traineeship / apprenticeship first. Select correct Generic Role Profile, update Task 
Specifics / Person Specification & prepare advert    (If change in establishment provide 
business case for CLT approval first)     

    
Obtain authority to recruit  (Approval required by Head of Service, Finance and People Services 
/ Publicise vacancy via WM Jobs  

   
Shortlisting 

   
Interview                               

   
Conditional offer Unsuccessful candidates advised via WM Jobs  
(normally bottom of grade) 

    
Manager completes New Starter 
Form – Part 1 

    
People Services to do offer of employment/  
Pre-employment checks 

   
People Services to notify manager once clearances  
have been received 

Page 88



Worcester City Council 

 

   
 
Manager to complete New Starter 
Form – Part 2 for Systems  
Registration once a start date has  
been agreed 

  
Manager to complete New Starter  
Form – Part 3, on day 1, once new 
employee starts. 

  
Induction 
 

  
 Probationary Period  (set objectives at start of period) 
  
 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



1  

Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 4th November 2019  

Report of: Head of People Services  

Subject: GRIEVANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURE

1. Recommendation

1.1. To approve the proposed amendments to the Grievance Policy and 
Procedure.

2. Background

2.1 The current Grievance Procedure came into effect in June 2012 and is therefore 
overdue for review. The update to this policy has so far incorporated feedback from 
the People Services team, and is in line with current ACAS Code of Practice on 
Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures.   

2.2 All references to HR changed to People Services, Service Manager changed to Head 
of Service.

2.3 Recognising and applying the ACAS Code of Practice on Disciplinary and Grievance 
Procedures.  

2.4 Managers to clarify if any employee communication detailing an issue is deemed a 
grievance (section 2.4).

2.5 Third Party grievances  (section 3.4).

2.6 Principles:  To recognise appropriateness of mediation at any stage of a grievance 
and to make reasonable adjustments for language difficulties. (sections 5.4, 5.6).

2.7 Malicious Intent: If a grievance is not made in good faith and/or made with malicious 
intent (section 6.1). 

2.8 Formal Grievance Meeting: Consider previous grievance resolutions for consistency 
of treatment (section 9.5)

2.9 Grievances and the wellbeing of employees (section 10).

2.10 Grievances and Ex employees (section 11).

2.11 Where mediation may not be suitable (section 13).

2.12 Related Policies (section 15).

2.13 Appendices: Templates for Notifications of a Formal Grievance and Appeal. (sections 
16 and 17).

Page 91 Agenda Item 7



2  

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
Minimal risk of requirement for external mediator (approx. £500 half day).

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
Having an effective Grievance Procedure maintains our compliance with ACAS 
guidelines and codes of practice. 

3.3 Risk Implications
None 

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None.  

3.5 Equality Implications
Minimal - Included disability, mental health and language support.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
 To arrange required mediation where appropriate. 
 Employees can now self refer for Counselling.

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
None

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Catherine Simcox  01905 722043  

Catherine.simcox@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 92



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 1 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

 

Worcester City Council 

GRIEVANCE POLICY & 

PROCEDURE  
DATE: AUGUST 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 

  

 

 

Title  Grievance Policy & Procedure 

Status  Draft 

Document Version V.01 

Author  Catherine Simcox  

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency Bi-annual 

Next Review: 2021 

Version History  

Version Date Description 

0.1 8/5/2019 First draft of Policy and Procedure, 

last reviewed 29/6/12  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Page 93 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 2 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

         

Contents 

 

1. Purpose .................................................................................................... 3 

2. Scope ....................................................................................................... 3 

3. The Grievance Policy shall apply to: ......................................................... 4 

4. The Grievance Policy does not apply to: ................................................... 4 

5. Principles ................................................................................................. 5 

6. Malicious Intent ....................................................................................... 5 

7. Timescales ............................................................................................... 5 

8. Informal Discussions ................................................................................ 6 

9. Formal Grievance Procedure .................................................................... 6 

Stage 1: Formal Grievance Meeting ........................................................... 6 

Stage 2: Right of Appeal and Appeal Meeting ............................................ 7 

10. Grievances and the well-being of employees ......................................... 8 

11. Ex employees ........................................................................................ 8 

12. Mediation ............................................................................................... 8 

13. Mediation may not be suitable if: ........................................................... 8 

14. Responsibilities: .................................................................................... 9 

15. Related Policies ................................................................................... 10 

16. Appendix 1: Notification of a Stage 1 formal Grievance ....................... 10 

17. Appendix 2 Notification of a Stage 2 Formal Grievance APPEAL .......... 11 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 3 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

Grievance Policy & Procedure 

1. Purpose 

1.1. Grievances are concerns, problems or complaints that employees raise with 

management as their employers. An employee should aim to settle most 

problems informally during the course of everyday working relations. It is in 

the manager’s interest to resolve problems before they can develop into major 

difficulties for all concerned. This is key to creating a healthy and productive 

working environment.  

1.2. The Grievance Policy is followed when all informal mechanisms have been 

exhausted or deemed ineffective. It provides a clear structure for an employee 

to raise any concerns and have the matter dealt with in a manner that is fair, 

consistent and timely.  

1.3. Grievances should be properly considered and resolved as near as possible to 

their point of origin.  Conciliation and/or mediation are a vital part of this 

procedure.  It is expected that all parties should keep this in mind when 

considering a grievance.   

1.4. The overall aim for all parties is a resolution to the issue raised, without 

recourse to external dispute resolution processes or an employment tribunal.  

2. Scope 

2.1 This Policy applies to all Worcester City Council employees, regardless of 
position or status.   

2.2 It is accepted by both the Council and Trade Unions that until such time as the 
Grievance Policy is exhausted, the status quo shall prevail and that Trade 

Unions and their members shall refrain from industrial action of any kind in 
support of any matter being dealt with in accordance with this procedure until 
the procedure is fully exhausted.   

2.3 The Council recognises the ACAS Code of Practice on Disciplinary and 
Grievance Procedures.   

2.4 Management should familiarise themselves with the policy. Any 
communication which contains a problem or complaint that the employee 
raises should potentially be treated as a grievance. If a manager is in doubt 

about whether the employee is raising a formal grievance, that issue could 
always be clarified with the employee by asking them directly. 

 

Page 95



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 4 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

3. The Grievance Policy shall apply to: 

3.1 Issues that may include, but not limited to:  

i. Terms and Conditions of Employment 

ii. Work relations 

iii. New working practices 

iv. Working environment 

v. Organisational change 

3.2. Individual grievances: A grievance of a current employee of the Council 
arising from an act or omission of the Council or its employees in relation to 
the individual's employment with the Council. 

3.3. Collective grievances: Grievances shared by particular groups of employees, 
which would otherwise constitute a number of individual grievances within 

paragraph 3.2 and where the matter under consideration is contained solely 
within that employee group. 

3.4. Third party relations: Employees can raise concerns about matters not 

entirely within the control of the Council, such as client or customer 
relationships (for instance where an employee is working on another 

employer’s site). These should be treated in the same way as grievances 
within the Council, with the manager investigating as far as possible and 
taking action if required. The Council should make it very clear to any third 

party that grievances are taken seriously and action will be taken to protect 
their employees. 

  

4.  The Grievance Policy does not apply to: 

 
4.1 Complaints, problems or concerns raised by non-employees of the Council 

 

4.2 Any matters coming within the scope of, or the application of the Disciplinary 

Procedure 
 

4.3 Income tax or social security matters  

 

4.4 The rules of a Pension scheme 
 

4.5 Any matter relating to an employee’s grade, rate of remuneration or other term 

or condition of service regulated by a collective agreement except where the 

Page 96



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 5 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

grievance relates to the interpretation or application of a particular provision to 
an individual employee. 

4.6. Any matters relating to discrimination or any other form of bullying, harassment 

or victimisation which should be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s 
Dignity at Work (Bullying, Harassment and Victimisation) Policy.  

4.7. Any matters which may concern an allegation or complaint in relation to some 
actual or likely danger (including health and safety breaches), fraud or other 
illegal or unethical conduct, which should be addressed in accordance with the 

Council’s Whistleblowing Policy 

5. Principles 

5.1 To provide employees with a course of action if they have a complaint which 
they are unable to resolve through discussion with their line manager and/or 

another colleague if a difference has arisen. 

5.2 To provide points of contact and timescales to resolve issues of concern 

5.3 At each stage of the Grievance Procedure, People Services are available to 

provide advice and guidance. However, People Services must be involved in the 
formal stages of a Grievance.  

5.4 At any stage in the procedure it may be appropriate to consider mediation.  
This could be managed internally or with the assistance of an external 
facilitator.  If this is a sensible solution this will be provided at no cost to the 

employee and should be entered into by all in a positive manner. 

5.5 At each stage of the formal procedure, employees have the right, if they wish, 

to be accompanied by a work-based colleague or an appropriate Trade Union 
representative. Individuals may not be accompanied at any stage of the 
procedure by anyone acting in a legal capacity.  

5.6 Where employees have difficulty expressing themselves because of language or 
other difficulties they may like to seek help from trade union or other employee 

representatives or from colleagues. 

5.7 All proceedings and associated documentation must be kept confidential as far 

as is practicable. 

5.8 No employee will suffer any detriment for raising a grievance in good faith, or 
for assisting a colleague to do so.  

6. Malicious Intent 

6.1. If investigation reveals that the grievance was not raised in good faith and or 

made with malicious intent, a separate disciplinary investigation will be 
considered. 

7. Timescales 

Page 97



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 6 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

7.1 The timescales set out in this Policy may be varied by mutual agreement for 
operational or availability reasons.  Where no such agreement has been 
reached and the prescribed time limit has not been adhered to the employee(s) 

or their representative shall be entitled to proceed to the next stage in the 
procedure.  

7.2 The point at which the procedure is entered may also be varied, as appropriate, 
following advice from People Services and by mutual agreement of the 
employee and relevant line manager. 

8. Informal Discussions 

8.1 Employees who have a grievance about their employment should aim to discuss 

it informally with the relevant employee/line manager in the first instance.  The 
majority of concerns should be resolved at this stage. 

8.2 If the grievance cannot be solved at this stage, or is not appropriate for an 
informal approach, then either the employee or the line manager may refer to 
the formal stage. 

9. Formal Grievance Procedure 

Stage 1: Formal Grievance Meeting  

9.1 If an employee or group of employees have a serious grievance, and/or wishes 
to raise the matter formally, they should either via their Trade Union 

representative or directly, set out the grievance in writing to their line manager. 
(See Appendix 1: notification of a formal grievance)  

9.2 If the grievance is in relation to their line manager then they may forward it to 

the next level above in the management chain e.g. the grievance is not 
appropriate to be submitted to the Supervisor and therefore would be 

submitted to the Team Manager.  

9.3 The notification should stick to the facts and avoid language that is insulting or 
abusive and must clearly explain what the grievance is and what satisfactory 

resolution of the grievance may be for the employee. 

9.4 The line manager receiving the formal grievance shall ensure that a member of 

People Services is informed and involved. 

9.5 Consider whether similar grievances have been raised before, how they have 
been resolved, and any follow-up action that has been necessary. This allows 

consistency of treatment. 

9.6 Consider arranging for an interpreter where the employee has difficulty 

speaking English 

9.7 Consider whether any reasonable adjustments are necessary for a person who 
is disabled and/or their representative. 

Page 98



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 7 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

9.8 At this stage, and should the grievance be complex, it may be appropriate for 
an initial investigation prior to the formal meeting as detailed in 9.9 below.  
Should this be required, the potential of an investigation shall be discussed with 

the employee and subsequently People Services will arrange for a suitable 
independent investigating manager (at a level not lower that the manager 

receiving the grievance). Timescales etc. will be agreed as appropriate. 

9.9 The line manager shall arrange for a meeting to take place to consider the 
grievance within 10 working days of its receipt, or within 10 days of the 

submission of any investigation report, as appropriate.   

9.10 The meeting shall involve the employee(s), their representative (should the 

employee wish), the line manager and a member of People Services.   

9.11 Within 3 working days of the meeting, the line manager shall write to the 
employee(s) giving the decision on the grievance and the reasons for the 

decision.  The employee will be given the right of appeal. 

Stage 2: Right of Appeal and Appeal Meeting  

9.12 Should the employee(s) continue to be aggrieved in respect of the original 
complaint, they shall within 10 working days, either via their Trade Union 

representative or directly, write to the Managing Director setting out the 
reasons why they continue to be aggrieved and the reasons upon which they 
wish to appeal the decision taken in Stage 1. (See Appendix 2: notification of a 

Stage 2 Grievance APPEAL)  

9.13 The Managing Director shall reply to the letter of appeal within 10 working days 

of receipt and arrange for a meeting to take place within a reasonable time 
frame.   

9.14 In cases where the grievance has been raised by a Head of Service or above, 

the appeal must be heard by a convened Appeals Committee made up of 
members of the Personnel and General Purposes Committee.   

9.15 The Managing Director reserves the right to delegate the appeal meeting to 
either a Head of Service or Corporate Director level, as appropriate, depending 
on the level at which the grievance was originally raised.  

9.16 The meeting shall involve the employee(s), their representative (should the 
employee wish), the Managing Director (or designate) and the Head of People 

Services 

9.17 Within 3 working days of the meeting, the Managing Director (or designate) will 
write to the employee(s) giving the decision on the grievance appeal and the 

reasons for the decision.   

9.18 Once the meeting has taken place as in 9.13 above, the internal procedure in 

relation to the grievance is exhausted and there is no further right of appeal.   

 

Page 99



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 8 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

10. Grievances and the well-being of employees 

10.1 A grievance process can be stressful for everyone involved. Sometimes a 

process may cause extreme distress or impact on a person’s mental health. 
Where there are signs of that happening to anyone involved in the process, the 
Council will consider whether the process can be adjusted in some way to 

support the wellbeing of the individual. 

10.2 In some cases, it might be appropriate for the Council, with the agreement and 

involvement of the individual, to seek Occupational Health guidance as to how 
the grievance process can proceed fairly. If there are clear and repeated signs 
of distress, the Council will signpost the individual to the Employee Assistance 

Programme, or suggest that the individual seeks advice from a GP.  

10.3 If someone has an existing mental health condition which they have previously 

disclosed as a disability, the Council will make reasonable adjustments to the 
process. 

11. Ex employees 

11.1 If an employee wishes to raise a grievance after they have left the Council, it 
should be sent in writing to People Services.  The Council is not obliged to 

investigate or respond to the complaint but may decide to do so if it is deemed 
appropriate. 

12. Mediation 

12.1 At any stage in the procedure it may be appropriate to consider mediation.  

This could be managed internally or with the assistance of an external 
facilitator.  If this is a sensible solution this will be provided at no cost to the 
employee and should be entered into by all parties, in a positive manner.  If 

mediation is recommended in a formal grievance and employees will not 
engage with the process there may be no more steps to resolve matters that 

the Council is prepared to take. 

12.2 Mediation is a completely voluntary and confidential form of alternative dispute 
resolution. It involves an independent, impartial person helping two or more 

individuals or groups reach a solution that's acceptable to everyone. The 
mediator can talk to both sides separately or together. Mediators do not make 

judgements or determine outcomes - they ask questions that help to uncover 
underlying problems, assist the parties to understand the issues and help them 
to clarify the options for resolving their difference or dispute. 

12.3 The overriding aim of workplace mediation is to restore and maintain the 
employment relationship wherever possible. This means the focus is on working 

together to go forward, not determining who was right or wrong in the past.  

13. Mediation may not be suitable if: 

Page 100



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 9 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

13.1. It is used as a first resort – because people should be encouraged to speak to 
each other and talk to their manager, under the informal part of the procedure, 
before they seek a solution via mediation 

13.2. If it is used by a manager to avoid their managerial responsibilities 

13.3. If a decision about right or wrong is needed, for example where there is 

possible criminal activity 

13.4. If the parties do not have the power to settle the issue 

13.5. If one side is completely inflexible and using mediation will only raise 

unrealistic expectations of a positive outcome. 

14. Responsibilities: 

14.1 Line Managers are responsible for: 

i. managing grievances through informal discussions in the first instance 

where appropriate.   

ii. complying with the grievance procedure where the informal discussions 
have not succeeded in resolving the employee’s grievance informally. 

iii. accurately recording the process and completing any relevant 
management documentation or investigations in a timely manner. 

iv. treating all individuals who file grievances equally and fairly 

v. preserve confidentiality at any stage of the process 

14.2 Employees who raise a grievance are responsible for: 

i. attempting to resolve any grievances informally with the employee / line 
manager. 

ii. following the grievance procedure where the informal procedure has been 
exhausted. 

iii. requesting an appeal on any formal decision 

iv. preserve confidentiality at any stage of the process 

14.3 People Services are responsible for: 

i. advice and guidance to line managers and employees as appropriate, 
supporting them in taking action in accordance with the agreed policy 

and procedures.    

ii. reviewing the continued relevance and appropriateness of the policy and 
procedure on a regular basis in line with the ACAS Code of Practice on 

Page 101



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 10 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

Disciplinary and Grievance Procedures, and for providing support and 
guidance to staff. 

15. Related Policies 

Disciplinary Procedure; Dignity At Work Policy; Whistleblowing Policy 

 

16. Appendix 1: Notification of a Stage 1 formal Grievance 

 

Notification of a Stage 1 formal Grievance 

To:  (level of manager to whom you 

should submit grievance) 

 

From:  

Job Title:  

Service Area:  

Date:  

 

Dear   

I wish to take a formal grievance out against ___________________________ in line 

with the Grievance Policy & Procedure. 

The details of my grievance are shown below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A satisfactory resolution of the grievance may be: 

 

 

Page 102



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 11 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

 

Yours sincerely 

Signature ____________________   Name _______________________________ 

The manager shall arrange for a meeting to take place to consider the grievance within 10 working days of receipt, or 

within 10 days of the submission of any investigation report, as appropriate, or if an extended period for response is 

mutually agreed 

17. Appendix 2 Notification of a Stage 2 Formal Grievance APPEAL 

Notification of a Stage 2 Formal Grievance APPEAL 

To:   The Managing Director 

From:  

Job Title:  

Service Area:  

Date:  

 

Dear 

On date:                 , my Stage 1 formal grievance against ____________________ 

was heard by ______________________. 

I am not satisfied with the outcome of this meeting and would like to appeal to the 

Managing Director for a further hearing of my grievance.  In line with the Council’s 

Grievance Policy & Procedure, I have submitted my appeal within 10 working days of 

the response to the initial formal grievance. 

The reasons why I continue to be aggrieved: 

 

 

 

 

The reasons upon which I wish to appeal the decision taken in Stage 1. 

 

 

Page 103



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 12 of 12 

15/08/19 v.01 
 Grievance Policy & Procedure 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

Signature ____________________   Name _______________________________ 

The Managing Director shall reply to this notification within 10 working days of receipt and arrange for a meeting to 

take place within a reasonable time frame  

Page 104



1  

Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Committee, 4th November 2019  

Report of: Head of People Services  

Subject: DIGNITY AT WORK (BULLYING, HARASSMENT AND VICTIMISATION) 
POLICY

1. Recommendation

1.1. To approve the proposed amendments to the Dignity at Work (Bullying, 
Harassment and Victimisation) Policy.

2. Background

2.1 The current Dignity at Work Policy came into effect in August 2013 and is therefore 
overdue for review. The update to this policy has so far incorporated feedback from 
the People Services team, and is in line with current CIPD, ACAS and gov.uk  
guidelines. The key changes include:

2.2 All references to HR changed to People Services, of Shareportal changed to 
Staffroom.

2.3 The inclusion of Victimisation within the Scope, Purpose and Procedural Workflow of 
the Policy.

2.4 Four additional examples of unacceptable behaviour within the scope of the 
Policy(Section 5.4, x – xiii).

2.5 Reference to additional related documents of: Employee T&Cs; Recruitment Policy 
and Procedure; People Strategy. (Section 11).

2.6 Signposting to new H&S Event form to capture Third Party Harassment Incidents. 
(Section 3.2).

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None. 

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
See 3.5.

3.3 Risk Implications
None.

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None.  

Page 105 Agenda Item 8



2  

3.5 Equality Implications
This policy is designed to ensure that we meet our obligations in the Equality Act 
2010.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
 To arrange required mediation where appropriate. 
 Employees can now self refer for Face –to-Face Counselling.

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
 H&S to track all Third Party Harassment Incidents, via a new MIS system from 

April 2020.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Catherine Simcox  01905 722043  

Catherine.simcox@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 106



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

1 of 8  

Worcester City Council 

DIGNITY AT WORK  

Bullying, Harassment and 

Victimisation Policy 

 
August 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title  Dignity at work – Bullying, Harassment and 

Victimisation Policy 

Status  Approved 

Document Version V2.0 

Author  Catherine Simcox 

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency Bi-annual 

Next Review: 2021 

Version History 

Version Date Description 

0.1 Feb 2013 Drafted 

0.2 18.2.13 Draft amended after 1st feedback 

0.3 20.5.13 Draft amended after feedback 

0.4 13.6.13 Draft amended after feedback 

1.0 19.7.13 Updated to ‘approved’ after P&GP 

18.7.13, to be effective 1.8.13 

2.0 14.08.19 Updated in line with CIPD / ACAS 

and Gov guidelines 

Page 107 Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

2 of 8  

Contents 

1. Purpose ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2. Scope ............................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Exclusions ........................................................................................................................ 3 

4. Definitions and the Law..................................................................................................... 3 

5. The Legal Position ............................................................................................................ 4 

6. Dealing with Bullying, Harassment and/or Victimisation .................................................... 5 

7. If an allegation of harassment, bullying and/or victimisation is not upheld: ........................ 6 

8. If an allegation of harassment, bullying and/or victimisation is upheld: .............................. 7 

9. Malicious Claims ............................................................................................................... 7 

10. Confidentiality ................................................................................................................... 7 

11. Related Documents .......................................................................................................... 7 

12. Appendix – Procedural Flowchart ..................................................................................... 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

3 of 8  

1. Purpose 
 

 Worcester City Council aims to foster a fair and inclusive working 1.1
environment that enables everyone to feel they can contribute at work and 
be treated with dignity and respect.  

 
 We fully support the right of all people to be treated with dignity and respect 1.2

at work and not to be subject to any form of unacceptable behaviour, 
including bullying, harassment and/or victimisation and we expect everyone 
working at the Council (or attending any work related event or on business 

trips) to behave respectfully towards others and never act in a way that could 
be regarded as unwanted behaviour  

 
 The purpose of this policy is to help prevent the occurrence of bullying, 1.3

harassment and/or victimisation in the workplace, and to provide guidance 
on how to resolve incidents or complaints both informally and formally, 
should such unwanted behaviour occur.  All allegations of bullying, 

harassment and/or victimisation will be investigated and if appropriate, 
disciplinary action will be taken.  This could include dismissal for serious 

offences. 

2. Scope 
 

We all have a clear role to play in helping to create a climate at work in 
which bullying, harassment and/or victimisation is unacceptable. We should 

all behave appropriately, abide by the Council Values and our Employee Code 
of Conduct and act positively, swiftly and appropriately to address any 

reported incidents or complaints. 

3. Exclusions 
 

Duty to Manage: All managers are responsible for ensuring that employees 
perform to an acceptable standard, aligned with our Competency Framework, 

Corporate Values and Employee Code of Conduct.  Legitimate, justifiable, 
appropriately conducted monitoring and management of an employee’s 

behaviour or job performance within good management practice does not 
constitute bullying, harassment and/or victimisation.  
 

Third party harassment: Worcester City Council has an obligation under the 
Equality Act 2010 to take reasonable and proportionate steps to prevent 

harassment of employees by people who do not work for the Council (such as 
customers, visitors or clients). Employees need to make their manager aware 
of any such incidents by completing a Health & Safety Incident/Event Form 

which can be found on STAFFROOM.  Please send a copy to 
healthandsafety@worcester.gov.uk  and people.services@worcester.gov.uk. 

Managers need to take reasonable steps to prevent it from happening again. 

4. Definitions and the Law 

4.1. Harassment: as defined in law is “unwanted conduct related to a relevant 
protected characteristic or of a sexual nature, which has the purpose or effect 

of violating an individual’s dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, 

Page 109



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

4 of 8  

degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that individual”.  The 
protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 

and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or 
sexual orientation.  

4.2. Bullying: There is no statutory definition of bullying; however, it can take 

the form of someone exercising power over another person through a 
negative act or acts that undermine the individual personally and/or 

professionally. ACAS (Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service) 
characterises bullying as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting 
behaviour, and/or an abuse or misuse of power through means that 

undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. 

4.3. Victimisation: Victimisation occurs when a person is treated less favourably 

because that person has made a complaint of discrimination or harassment, 
has acted as a witness in connection with such a complaint, or has been 

involved or intends to be involved in any way in such a complaint. Anyone 
found to have victimised a person may be subject to disciplinary action, up to 
and including summary dismissal 

5. The Legal Position 
 

5.1. Harassment: The Equality Act 2010 places a legal obligation on employers 
to ensure that harassment on the grounds of protected characteristics (as 
defined above) does not take place at work.  Employees are able to complain 
of behaviour that they find offensive even if it is not directed at them.  In 

addition, the complainant need not possess the relevant characteristics 
themselves and can be because of perception or association.  

5.2. Bullying: It is not possible to make a direct complaint to an Employment 
Tribunal about bullying.  However bullying might feature as an example of 
behaviour that gives rise to a potential claim of discrimination where the 

claimant can demonstrate a protected characteristic or in claims of 
constructive unfair dismissal. 

5.3. Victimisation: Less favourable treatment does not need to be linked to a 
protected characteristic. 

5.4. Examples of unacceptable behaviour include, but are not limited to: 
 

 
• Spreading malicious rumours, or insulting someone by word or behaviour 

• Copying memos that are critical about someone to others who do not 
need to know 

• Ridiculing or demeaning someone – picking on them or setting them up 

to fail 
• Exclusion or victimisation  

• Overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position  
• Unwelcome sexual advances – touching, standing too close, display of 

offensive materials, asking for sexual favours, making decisions on the 

basis or sexual advances being accepted or rejected 
• Making threats or comments about job security without foundation 

• Deliberately undermining a competent worker by overloading or constant 
criticism  

Page 110



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

5 of 8  

• Preventing individuals progressing by intentionally blocking promotion or 
training opportunities  

6. Dealing with Bullying, Harassment and/or Victimisation 
 

6.1. Some people are unaware that their behaviour in some circumstances is 
bullying, harassment or victimisation. If it is clearly pointed out to them that 
their behaviour is unacceptable, the problem can sometimes be resolved. 

With this in mind, this policy includes informal as well as formal action to 
deal with complaints of bullying, harassment and/or victimisation. 

 
Informal Procedure 
 

i. Record:  Complainants are advised to keep a diary of all incidents – 
records of dates, times, any witnesses, their feelings etc.  Keep copies of 

any correspondence that may be relevant.  
ii. Explain:  Complainants need to explain how the unwanted behaviour is 

making them feel; explain how it is interfering with their work or life 

outside work and ask for it to stop.  This could be done in writing if that 
is felt to be easier.  The complainant should keep a record of the 

discussion or a copy of the letter sent to the alleged harasser.  
iii. Support:  It is recognised that this approach may not always be 

appropriate, particularly if the employee feels scared or threatened by 
the behaviour of the alleged bully or harasser.  If this is the case, the 
initial approach may be made with the support of a trusted colleague, 

manager, Trade union representative or member of People Services on a 
strictly confidential basis.   

iv. Employee Assistance Programme: Employees may benefit from the 
Council’s employee assistance programme for independent and 
confidential advice and support (details are available on STAFFROOM or 

The Benefits Suite). 
 

Formal Procedure 

 

6.2. If informal action has failed to resolve matters or if the allegations of 
bullying, harassment and /or victimisation are so serious it is inappropriate to 
be addressed informally (e.g. sexual assault allegation), formal procedures 

will apply. 
 

i. Written complaint:  The complaint of harassment, bullying and/or 
victimisation should be made in writing to the appropriate line manager 
(or the next level manager, if the immediate line manager is the alleged 

harasser) and it should also be copied to People Services.  If the 
complainant has difficulty writing, they may discuss this with the 

appropriate line manager who should make notes on their behalf.  
ii. Details: The written complaint should contain the identity of the 

harasser(s), full details of the nature of the harassment or bullying 

including dates, names of any witnesses and any other relevant details.  
The written complaint should also outline what informal attempts have 

been made to deal with the situation.  
iii. Investigation: The manager in consultation with People Services will 

appoint an Investigating Officer, who will be supported by a HR Officer, to 

Page 111



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

6 of 8  

meet with the Complainant and alleged harasser separately to investigate 
the full details of the allegation.   

iv. Representation:  Both the complainant and the alleged harasser have 
the right to be accompanied by a trade union representative or work 
colleague at meetings throughout the formal procedure. 

v. Separation:  If the complainant and the alleged harasser work together, 
consideration will be given whether the two parties should be separated 

during the investigation.  The manager in conjunction with People 
Services will decide if this is appropriate, although consideration will need 
to be given to the practicality and whether it can be accommodated 

within the Service needs. 
vi. Suspension: It may be appropriate to suspend the alleged harasser 

from duty whilst the investigation is being carried out, although this must 
only be considered as a last resort. 

vii. Responding to Counter Allegations: Where a counter complaint is 
made following a formal complaint of bullying, harassment and/or 
victimisation, both complaints will be investigated simultaneously by the 

same Investigating Officer, if practicable 
viii. Conclusion of Investigation:  Once the investigation is concluded, the 

Investigating Officer will produce a detailed report which will be 
submitted to the manager who initiated the investigation without 
unreasonable delay.  The Investigating Officer will meet with the 

complainant to communicate the outcome of the investigation, which will 
also be confirmed in writing. 

ix. Moving Forward: The line manager will also meet with the complainant 
to draw a line under the incident and ensure there are no further issues 
that need to be addressed 

 

7. If an allegation of harassment, bullying and/or victimisation is not upheld: 
 

7.1. Meeting: The Manager / Investigating Officer will meet with the alleged 
harasser and confirm the conclusion of the investigation 

7.2. Counselling or mediation: may be considered to support the working 
relationship in the future, if appropriate and requested.  

7.3. Applications to transfer: to an alternative post will be subject to standard 

recruitment processes which include open competition 
7.4. Right of appeal: The complainant has the right to appeal against the way in 

which the investigation was conducted via the Grievance Procedure. 
 

Page 112



 

11 - AOB HR Policies  - Dignity at Work - Bullying Harassment and Victimisation Policy Aug 2019 v2.0Page 

7 of 8  

8. If an allegation of harassment, bullying and/or victimisation is upheld: 

 

8.1. Meeting: The alleged harasser will be informed of the outcome of the 
investigation and will be advised that further action will taken be in line with 
the Disciplinary Policy, which may include a ‘letter of concern’ or attendance 

at a formal disciplinary hearing.  Serious allegations deemed as gross 
misconduct could lead to summary dismissal.  

8.2. Counselling or mediation: may be considered to support the working 
relationship in the future, if appropriate and requested. 

8.3. Relocation: If this proves necessary and can be accommodated by the 

Service, the alleged harasser and not the complainant may be relocated 
unless the person complaining requests otherwise.  

 

9. Malicious Claims 

 

9.1. All complaints of harassment, bullying and/or victimisation will be treated 
within the context of the right of each individual to be treated with dignity 

and fairness.  Staff with genuine complaints are encouraged to raise them 
without fear of recrimination. 
 

9.2. If investigation reveals that the complaint was not made in good faith and or 

made with malicious intent, a separate disciplinary investigation will be 
considered.    
 

10. Confidentiality 
 

All complaints raised in line with this policy, associated correspondence and 
interviews will be treated in strict confidence.  Breaches in confidentiality will 

be subject to disciplinary action.   
 

11. Related Documents 
 

• Employee Terms and Conditions  

• Grievance Procedure 

• Disciplinary Policy/Procedure 

• Capability Procedure 

• Whistleblowing Policy 

• Recruitment Policy and Procedure 

• Employee Code of Conduct 

• Equality and Inclusion Strategy 

• People Strategy

Page 113



Worcester City Council 

 
 

Dignity at Work (Bullying, Harassment and Victimisation) Policy Aug 2019 v2.0  Page 8 of 8 

12. Appendix – Procedural Flowchart  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Employee feels bullied, 

harassed or victimised 

Employee attempts to resolve matters directly with 

alleged harasser (or with support from a trusted 

colleague, manager, trade union representative or 

member of People Services, on confidential basis.) 

Employee keeps a written record of the issues 

and attempts to resolve informally 

INFORMAL  ACTION  

Issue not resolved 
Issue resolved 

No further action required 
Employee submits detailed written complaint to line 

manager (or next level manager, if line manager is 

the alleged harasser) 

FORMAL  ACTION  

In serious cases of 

bullying, harassment 

or victimisation, the 

informal action may 

be by-passed 

Investigating Officer supported by People Services 

investigate with both parties, who may be 

represented.  An Investigation report is produced.  

Disciplinary procedure 
Upheld Not Upheld 

Return to work, 

counselling/mediation considered 

Separation of the 

complainant and the 

alleged harasser, if 

appropriate 

 

P
age 114



1  

Report to: Personnel & General Purposes Sub-Committee, 4th November 2019  

Report of: Head of People Services 

Subject: AMENDMENT TO THE SICKNESS ABSENCE MANAGEMENT POLICY & 
PROCEDURE 

1. Recommendation

1.1 To approve the proposed amendments to the Sickness Absence Policy & 
Procedure.

2. Background

2.1 Our existing procedure allows for managers reviewing the attendance of employees 
who have met trigger points to issue a warning after the review meeting.  Such 
warnings are not in themselves a sanction, but are an indication of the consequences 
of continuing high levels of sickness absence.  On that basis the procedure does not 
allow for employee appeals against the warning.  UNISON have requested that we 
allow for appeals to be made on the basis that Three such warnings could lead to 
dismissal of the employee.  Management are minded to concede this in order to 
maintain our good employee relations.  Consequently section 12.1.1 has been 
amended to provide for appeals to be made to the relevant Head of Service.         

3. Implications

3.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications
None

3.2 Legal and Governance Implications
None

3.3 Risk Implications
There is some risk that this change will significantly raise the number of appeals 
made, increasing pressure on management time, but appeals will largely be to Heads 
of Service rather than Directors and the impact in the first 12 months will be 
monitored.  

3.4 Corporate/Policy Implications
None.  

3.5 Equality Implications
None.

3.6 Human Resources Implications
As above.

Page 115 Agenda Item 9



2  

3.7 Health and Safety Implications
None.

Ward(s): All
Contact Officer: Mark Edwards – Head of People Services  01905 722042.  
                                      mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk 
Background Papers: none 
 

Page 116

mailto:mark.edwards@worcester.gov.uk


Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 1 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

 

Worcester City Council 

SICKNESS ABSENCE 

MANAGEMENT POLICY 

& PROCEDURE 
DATE:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Title  Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Status  Draft 

Document Version V0.2 

Author  Alison Darbyshire 

Sponsor Mark Edwards 

Owner People Services 

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency Bi-annual 

Next Review: 2021 

Version History  

Version Date Description 

0.1 17/1/2019 First draft of amended policy to 

include disability leave clarification  

0.2 23/9/2019 Inclusion of appeal process for 

warnings 

   

   

   

   

   

   

Page 117 Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 2 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

Contents 

 

 

1 Purpose ............................................................................................................................ 3 

2 Scope ............................................................................................................................... 3 

2.1 Exclusions ........................................................................................................................ 3 

3 Sickness Absence Notification Procedure ........................................................................ 3 

4 Return to Work ................................................................................................................. 4 

4.1 Phased Return to Work .................................................................................................... 5 

5. Sick Pay ........................................................................................................................... 5 

6. Medical and dental appointments ..................................................................................... 5 

7. Annual leave ..................................................................................................................... 6 

8. Disabled employees ......................................................................................................... 6 

9. Absences relating to mental stress or physical strains ...................................................... 6 

10. Working during absences ................................................................................................. 7 

11. General ............................................................................................................................ 7 

12 Managing Sickness Absence ............................................................................................ 7 

12.1 Managing Short-term sickness absence procedure .......................................................... 7 

12.2 Managing Long-term sickness absence procedure ......................................................... 10 

12.3 Termination of Employment – Long Term Sickness absence ......................................... 12 

13 Appendix 1 ..................................................................................................................... 12 

13.1 Recording Sickness Absence Procedure ........................................................................ 12 

 

  

 

 

Page 118



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 3 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

1 Purpose 

If our employees are absent from work and unable to perform their duties, the quality 

of the services we provide will suffer.  The purpose of this policy is to provide a 

framework to manage and support employees who are unable to work due to illness 

and either assist them back to work, or find an alternative solution as quickly as 

possible. 

2 Scope 

This Policy applies to all Worcester City Council employees. 

2.1 Exclusions  

Absence during the probation period will be dealt with under the probation process 

and is outside the scope of this policy, although absence during probation will count 

towards the 12 month rolling trigger points. 

Individuals who take unauthorised absence, or who abuse the sick pay provision 

(including taking sick leave when not genuinely medically sick, for instance to care for 

dependants, which should be requested under annual or special leave) or fail to 

follow the notification procedures will be dealt with under the disciplinary 

procedure as appropriate and may have their pay stopped for the period of 

unauthorised absence. 

3 Sickness Absence Notification Procedure 

Failure to follow this procedure may result in sick pay being delayed or withheld and 

may lead to action under the Disciplinary procedure for failing to follow procedure.   

At any time the Council may seek medical opinion as to an employee’s state of health.  

Employees may be required to undergo a medical examination by a doctor nominated 

by the Council.  Employees may not be allowed to return to work following sickness 

absence until the Council’s nominated doctor has declared them fit to return.  Where 

employees are declared fit by the Council’s nominated doctor they must return to 

work. 

Managers should keep in touch with staff during sickness absence to understand any 

areas of work which need to be covered and to offer support to sick employees as 

required. 

An occupational health assessment referral should be arranged for all employees after 

4 weeks of continual absence. 

Employees who are absent from work due to sickness or injury must: 

i. notify the Council via the dedicated sickness reporting process (see 

Appendix 1) by 9:30 am (or at least half an hour before the beginning of their 

shift if service area requirements so justify) on their first day of absence.  A 

telephone call from the employee is required on the first notification and to 

Page 119



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 4 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

maintain contact throughout the absence (although in exceptional 

circumstances whereby the employee is unable to phone, the employee may 

allow a family or friend to phone through their notification on their behalf);   

ii. give a reason for the absence and an anticipated return date which will be 

agreed with the Council’s sickness reporting contact and to maintain regular 

contact, if the return date is not known).  If unable to return to work by the 

date stated the employee must again notify the Council via the agreed 

notification process; 

iii. ensure they submit a ‘Fit note’ that states not fit for work to People 

Services, issued by a doctor (officially entitled  ‘Statement of Fitness for Work 

For social security or Statutory Sick Pay’) to cover for sickness absence of more 

than seven calendar days.  In addition, the Council reserves the right to 

request a Doctors Certificate when it is not required for SSP purposes, 

reimbursing the cost if necessary.  

iv. If follow-on certificates are issued by their doctor, each day must be covered 

without any break, otherwise pay will be affected.  It is the employee’s 

responsibility to make a doctor’s appointment to get continuation certificates 

before the previous one expires and to contact the agreed notification process to 

make them aware that they will remain off sick.  Doctors are not obliged to 

back-date certificates. 

4 Return to Work 

On return to work from sickness absence every employee is required to report their 

return to work in accordance with the sickness reporting process.  In addition 

employees are required to attend a return to work meeting with their line 

manager and a Return to Work Meeting must be held for all absences in accordance 

with the notification process.  

The line manager is responsible for ensuring that the return to work meeting takes 

place as soon as practicable on an employees return to work, but no later than 7 

calendar days (If the line manager is absent beyond this period another appropriate 

manager should hold this meeting to avoid unnecessary delay in ensuring the 

employee has the support in place to return to work).   

This meeting should:  

i. enable early identification of any issue which can impact on performance or the 

ability to attend work 

ii. establish what, if any, support can be offered to the employee at the earliest 

opportunity (including Occupational health referral, Counselling, light duties or 

reduced hours for phased return etc.)  

Page 120



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 5 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

iii. ensure the employee is aware of Worcester City Council’s expectations 

regarding attendance and the operation of this policy 

iv. review the sickness history to identify if a trigger has been reached or if there 

are any absence patterns that are of concern e.g. absences on specific days in 

the year (e.g. birthday), absences starting or ending adjacent to non-working 

days. 

4.1 Phased Return to Work 

A Doctor may state that an employee may be fit for work taking account of the 

following advice:  

“If available, and with your employer’s agreement, you may benefit from:  

• a phased return to work;  
• altered hours;  
• amended duties;  

• workplace adaptations.” 

If this is recommended, agreement must be made with the employee and their line 

manager on how to proceed with advice from People Services as appropriate.    

5. Sick Pay 

In accordance with the Collective Agreement to modify terms and conditions of 

employment 2012, sick pay is payable during absence from 1 April 2013 as follows:- 

During 1st year of service 1 month at 90% pay (and after completing 4 months 

service) 2 months half pay. 

During 2nd year of service 2 months pay at 90% and 2 months half pay 

During 3rd year of service 4 months pay at 90% and 4 months half pay 

During 4th & 5th year of 

service 

5 months pay at 90% and 5 months half pay 

After 5 years service 6 months pay at 90% and 6 months half pay 

6. Medical and dental appointments 

It is expected that every effort must be made to arrange such appointments outside 

normal working hours (see also flexible working hours guidelines).  Where this is not 

possible, they should be booked at the start or end of the shift to minimise disruption 

to the working day.  Reasonable notice must be given to the line manager, who may 

also request appointment cards/letters in order to grant paid time off as appropriate. 

Page 121



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 6 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

7. Annual leave 

Employees who fall ill whilst on pre-booked annual leave will be credited for the leave 

booked with effect from the date the doctor’s certificate was signed. 

During periods of ill-health, employees will continue to accrue annual leave.  Statutory 

leave as defined in the Working Time Directive may be carried forward to the following 

year if it is not taken due to sickness absence.  Annual leave in excess of statutory 

leave will be lost. 

Employees who are ill during public holidays or fixed days cannot re-claim annual 

leave. 

Where an employee has exhausted their sick pay, it may be authorised that they take 

and be paid for annual leave during sick leave. 

8. Disabled employees 

The Council is committed to supporting and retaining its disabled employees, and 

employees are encouraged to disclose any disability they have to their line 

manager/People Services to access support. 

Disabled employees may be referred to Occupational Health for advice on what 

adjustments the Council can make to their responsibilities, equipment or workplace, 

to enable them to carry out the functions of their post, such adjustments to be made 

in consultation with the employee, and the effectiveness monitored over a period of 

time. 

Disability Leave:  Disability Leave is a form of reasonable adjustment in line with 

the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and enables employee’s to take paid time 

away from work for pre-planned appointments or treatments, related to an 

employee’s disability, that help maintain health and wellbeing. Disability Leave is 

available to employees who are registered as disabled with the Council and must be 

agreed by the line manager and People Services for a specified reason.  This is paid 

time off and should not be used for disability related sickness absence.   

Where a disabled employee’s condition is likely to lead to frequent, short-term 

sickness absences, this will be taken into consideration when monitoring attendance 

and in some circumstances it may be a reasonable adjustment to have different 

expectations about the level of sickness that calls for formal action. 

9. Absences relating to mental stress or physical strains 

Where an absence occurs relating to stress or strain the employee will be given the 

opportunity as soon as possible to be referred to the approved Counsellor or 

Physiotherapist.  All such referrals are to be arranged by People Services and any 

costs are to be met by the Council. 

Page 122



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 7 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

If employees are absent relating to stress they should be referred to Occupational 

Health at the earliest opportunity. 

10. Working during absences 

Employee’s should not undertake any work – paid or otherwise – during their 

absence unless this is agreed by the Head of Service, although it is likely that such 

agreement will be withheld.  If therapeutic work is recommended the Council should 

be informed and will provide it where possible. 

11. General 

If an employee abuses the sickness scheme or is absent on account of sickness due 

or attributable to deliberate conduct prejudicial to recovery or the employee’s own 

misconduct or neglect or active participation in professional sport or injury while 

working in the employee’s own time on their own account or for private gain or for 

another employer sick pay may be suspended. 

12 Managing Sickness Absence 

There are two types of sickness absence, short term and long term (continuous over 

four weeks) absence, each requiring a different approach.  Formal warnings for 

sickness absence may be issued for both short term and long term sickness absence 

and may be considered together. 

12.1 Managing Short-term sickness absence procedure 

Absence in a 12 month rolling period which meets any of the following criteria and 

does not exceed 4 weeks continuous absence will be dealt with under the short term 

sickness absence procedure: 

i. Four periods of absence, or 

ii. A total of six working days or more, or 

iii. Absence trends/patterns such as around non-working days, birthdays etc. 

12.1.1 Sickness absence meetings 

When an employee hits a trigger point, there will be a sickness absence meeting 

where the line manager will consider all the individual circumstances in accordance 

with the procedure set out below.  As a formal warning for sickness absence may be 

issued as an outcome of the meeting, the procedure must be carefully adhered to. 

The Line manager will invite the employee to a meeting, in writing giving a minimum 

of 3 working days notice.  The letter will remind them of their right to be accompanied 

(by a trade union representative, colleague or an official employed by a trade union). 

The meeting will be led by the line manager, and will have the purpose of fact finding, 

where possible establishing the cause of any absence and to offer assistance based on 

Page 123



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 8 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

individual circumstances.  The line manager will cover the following matters as 

appropriate during the meeting: 

i. Identify the frequency and reason for the absences and ensure that the 

employee is aware that their absence record may be giving cause for concern, 

and highlighting the impact on the rest of the team or authority. 

ii. Advise the employee to seek medical attention to determine if there are 

grounds to consider that there might be an underlying medical problem, or 

refer to OH as appropriate, 

iii. Give consideration to personal problems which may be causing the absences 

and offer possible ways of helping the employee to resolve them, 

iv. If any temporary or permanent redeployment or reduction of duties/reasonable 

adjustment, or ill health retirement is required, 

v. Explore whether the absences may be due to a work related injury; a disability 

defined within the Equality Act; or pregnancy, and take advice from the HR lead 

as appropriate, 

vi. Agree a reasonable time within which the employee’s attendance can be 

assessed over the following 3 months, 

vii. Confirm whether or not a formal warning for sickness absence will be issued on 

this occasion, providing reasons for the decision and indicate the next stage of 

the procedure if attendance does not improve, what constitutes satisfactory 

improvement will depend on the circumstances of the case, but in most cases 

an employee will be deemed to have improved sufficiently if they would not 

have reached the trigger points defined in 12.1 during the most recent 12 

months at the time of the review. 

viii. Indicate that if sickness absence continues at a high level then the employee 

may be excluded from participating in any additional hours/overtime 

The line manager must confirm in writing the outcome of the meeting within 7 

working days and place a copy on the personnel file.  The letter must include:  

• details of who attended the meeting and when it was held,  

• what was discussed and the actions agreed for both employee and line manager 

with relevant timescales (no longer than 3 months although a subsequent 

meeting can be held within this period if absence continues to be poor); 

• confirmation on whether or not the outcome is a formal warning for sickness 

absence providing reasons for the decision and clarification that further 

absence may result in the employee receiving subsequent formal warnings for 

sickness absence, clarifying that 3 formal warnings for sickness absence in a 

Page 124



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 9 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

rolling 12 month period will result in a sickness hearing which could result in 

dismissal. (Warnings under the Sickness Absence Management procedure and 

the Disciplinary procedure will remain separate and will not affect each other). 

• Where a warning has been issued and the employee has grounds to believe a 

warning is   a disproportionate or the result of an unfair process they may 

appeal the decision to their Head of Service, or Corporate Director if the 

warning was issued by a Head of Service. 

• Appeals must be made in writing within 10 working days of the warning being 

issued, setting out the reasons why the employee believes that the warning is 

disproportionate or the result of an unfair process. 

• The Head of Service will reply to the letter of appeal within 10 working days and 

will arrange for a meeting to take place within a reasonable time frame. 

• The meeting will involve the employee, their representative (should they have 

one), the Head of Service (or Corporate Director) and an officer from People 

Services. 

• Within 5 working days of the meeting the Head of Service (or Corporate 

Director) will write to the employee giving a decision on the appeal and the 

reasons for the decision. 

• There is no further right of appeal.  

Where attendance has not improved following the first meeting (for further sickness 

absence that is over and above the initial trigger), the manager will convene another 

meeting as above but subsequent meetings will be accompanied by the relevant HR 

lead.  Meetings will be followed up in writing within 7 working days, issuing a 1st, 2nd 

and 3rd formal warning as appropriate. 

 

12.1.2 Short-term sickness hearing which could lead to dismissal  

i. Following the issue of 3 formal warnings in a rolling 12 month period, the 

employee will be invited to a sickness hearing which could lead to dismissal, in 

writing: 

• Stating that they may be accompanied by a trade union representative, 

colleague or an official employed by a trade union. 

• Informing the employee that as a result of the meeting, their contract of 

employment may be terminated stating that the reason for dismissal is likely 

to be “some other substantial reason” and will usually be incapability due to 

persistent intermittent absence as a consequence of ill health although it may 

also be “Capability due to underlying health issues”.  

Page 125



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 10 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

• And provided with a copy of the line manager’s report for consideration at the 

dismissal meeting.   

ii. The Dismissal meeting will be chaired by either a Head of Service or other 

manager delegated with the authority to dismiss and must be accompanied by 

a member of People Services. 

iii. The purpose of the meeting is to consider all information in relation to the 

absences, including Occupational Health advice.  If appropriate the hearing 

manager may ask for further medical advice. 

iv. The hearing manager should consider whether or not alternative employment, 

reasonable adjustments to the current role or ill-health retirement could and 

have been recommended prior to the decision to terminate employment. 

v. If it is decided following the meeting that the contract of employment will be 

terminated, then the employee must be given due notice/pay in lieu of notice 

and any other additional outstanding payments e.g. annual leave. 

vi. The outcome of the meeting must be communicated in writing, within 7 working 

days, by the hearing manager to the employee.  The letter must state that the 

employee has a right of appeal which must be submitted in writing with full 

reasons to the Managing Director within 10 working days of the receipt of the 

written notification of the dismissal. 

 

12.2 Managing Long-term sickness absence procedure 

Long term sickness absence is defined as a period of medically certified sickness 

which is continuous for at least four weeks. 

12.2.1. When an employee is suffering a long term illness, Line Managers are 

expected to exercise judgement in respect of the appropriate timing of 

Occupational Health referrals and the scheduling of meetings based on the 

individual circumstances (e.g. it may not be appropriate to make arrangements 

if the employee is seriously ill or could not reasonably be expected to attend).  

People Services can advise as appropriate. 

12.2.2. Normally after four weeks, or earlier if long term absence can be predicted, 

the manager should invite the employee to a meeting, accompanied by the 

relevant HR lead.  This must be confirmed in writing and may take place either 

at the employee’s home or workplace if their medical condition allows (the 

employee may be accompanied by a trade union representative, colleague or 

an official employed by a trade union).   

The meeting will 

i.  Help to gain further information relating to the absence, 

Page 126



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 11 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

ii.  Inform the employee that they will be referred to either the national ‘Fit for 

Work’ scheme or Occupational Health to establish the likely length of the 

absence and the long term effect on capability in relation to job performance 

and attendance at work, 

iii.  Address, where possible, any needs or concerns of the employee, 

iv.  Determine whether the employee may qualify as having a disability under the 

Equality Act 2010, 

v.  Consider offering appropriate alternative work if this would enable the 

employee to return to work 

12.2.3. On receipt of the Occupational Health report a further meeting will be 

arranged with the line manager, HR lead, employee and their representative if 

requested.  The purpose of the meeting will be to discuss the report and to give 

consideration to the options available which may include: 

i.   The employee being expected to be fully fit for their duties on an on-going 

basis in the near future, setting a possible start date and possibly including a 

phased return to work and/or temporary modification of duties for an interim 

duration, 

ii.  The employee being capable of undertaking modified duties, giving 

consideration to making reasonable adjustments within the workplace (e.g. 

amended duties, part-time working, re-deployment, re-training) 

iii.  If no improvement can be expected in the short term, stating when reviews 

will take place and whether the employee requires further medical treatment 

or referral 

12.2.4.  Should the individual be unable to fulfil the duties of a post within the 

Council for the foreseeable future, considering whether an application for 

retirement on the grounds of ill health is recommended (an Occupational health 

doctor will be required to assess the case and any ill health retirement 

recommendations will be subject to the discretion of the employer). The 

employee must provide a contact point during the absence and maintain 

contact with their line manager, keeping them informed of any changes in 

condition and at regular intervals.  The manager will be able to contact the 

employee directly or via family members or other intermediaries (e.g. 

Occupational Health) depending on the medical condition and advice.  If an 

employee refuses to maintain contact sick pay may be withheld and the 

Disciplinary procedure may be invoked. 

12.2.5. Dependant on circumstances, the employee may not be allowed to return to 

work until Occupational Health has declared them fit to return.  Where declared 

fit an employee must return to work. 

Page 127



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 12 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

12.2.6. A formal warning for sickness absence may be issued where appropriate for 

staff who are absent for more than 4 weeks.  This must be confirmed in writing 

to the employee, clarifying that 3 formal warnings in a rolling 12 month period 

may result in dismissal. 

12.3 Termination of Employment – Long Term Sickness absence 

12.3.1. Where it is established through medical opinion that there is no possibility of 

the employee returning to work within a reasonable period of time and/or 

where none of the previous options are appropriate, or 3 formal sickness 

absence warnings in a 12 months period have been issued, the employee’s 

contract may be terminated.  During the consultation process, if the employee 

disagrees with the medical opinion, he/she should be given a reasonable 

opportunity to obtain a second opinion.  They will be responsible for any cost 

involved and must make the resulting report available to the Council if it is to 

be taken into account. 

12.3.2. During the consultation process, the employee must be given time to 

consider the various options.  For the individual concerned it is a potentially 

traumatic process and needs to be handled with sensitivity and compassion. 

12.3.3. If termination of employment on grounds of incapacity is given, notice will 

be based on full pay, even if the sick pay entitlement is exhausted, or pay in 

lieu of notice may be given (N.B. Dismissal may take place before sick pay 

expires). 

12.3.4.  Employees have a right of appeal against termination of employment on 

health grounds and must be advised of that right.  Any appeal must state the 

detailed reason to the Managing Director within 10 working days of receipt of 

the letter confirming the decision.  

13 Appendix 1 

13.1 Recording Sickness Absence Procedure  

Firstcare has been contracted to manage absence reporting on behalf of Worcester City Council 

with effect from 1 April 2018. 

Page 128



Worcester City Council 

 
 

  Page 13 of 13 

17.1.19 v0.1 
 Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure 

 

DAY 1: 

Employee notifies 
sickness absence by 
phoning FirstCare on 

0333 321 8197 by 
9:30am if on 

flexitime, or half an 
hour before the start 

of their shift  

FirstCare 
notify the 
Council of 

the absence

Employees must provide 
Doctors ‘Fit notes’ to 

People Services to cover 
for sickness absence of 

more than 7 calendar days 
or immediately before or 

after annual leave. 

Employee calls 
FirstCare on 0333 
321 8197 to notify 

any changes to their 
sickness absence 

(duration/reason/ 
treatment)

Employee calls 
Firstcare on 0333 

321 8197 to notify 
the end of their 

absence up to 24 
hours prior to return 
to work but no less 
than 60 mins before 

shift .

Firstcare 
notify the 
Council of 
the end of 

the absence

Manager holds a Return 
to work meeting with 

employee within 7 
calendar days then 

completes and uploads 
the RTW form to FirstCare

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations 2019
	Appendix 1 Review of Polling Districts Polling Places and Polling Stations August 2019 FINAL
	Appendix 2 Review of Polling Districts Polling Places and Polling Stations August 2019

	6 Recruitment Policy & Procedure
	Recruitment policy procedure appendicies

	7 Grievance Policy and Procedure
	Grievance Policy and Procedure Appendicies

	8 Dignity at Work (Bullying, Harassment And Victimisation) Policy
	Dignity at Work Policy Appendicies

	9 Amendment to the Sickness Absence Management Policy & Procedure
	Sickness absence management policy and procedure Appendicies


